GC100 AND INVESTOR GROUP



JULY 2019

DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION REPORTING GUIDANCE 2019























CONTENTS

1.	INTRODUCTION	2
1.1	STRUCTURE OF THIS GUIDANCE	2
1.2	HOW TO USE THIS GUIDANCE	3
1.3	FLEXIBILITY, DISCRETION AND JUDGEMENT	3
2.	DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION REPORT	7
2.1	INTRODUCTORY (PART 1 OF THE REGULATIONS)	7
2.2	ANNUAL STATEMENT (PART 2 OF THE REGULATIONS)	9
3.	ANNUAL REMUNERATION REPORT (PART 3 OF THE REGULATIONS)	10
3.1	SINGLE TOTAL FIGURE OF REMUNERATION	10
3.2	TOTAL PENSION ENTITLEMENTS	15
3.3	SCHEME INTERESTS AWARDED DURING THE FINANCIAL YEAR	15
3.4	PAYMENTS TO PAST DIRECTORS	17
3.5	PAYMENTS FOR LOSS OF OFFICE	18
3.6	STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS' SHAREHOLDING AND SHARE INTERESTS	19
3.7	PERFORMANCE GRAPH AND TABLE	20
3.8	PERCENTAGE CHANGE IN REMUNERATION OF ALL DIRECTORS AND ALL EMPLOYEES	22
3.9	PAY RATIO INFORMATION IN RELATION TO THE TOTAL REMUNERATION OF THE DIRECTOR UNDERTAKING THE ROLE OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER	22
3.10	RELATIVE IMPORTANCE OF SPEND ON PAY	24
3.11	STATEMENT OF IMPLEMENTATION OF REMUNERATION POLICY IN THE CURRENT FINANCIAL YEAR	25
3.12	CONSIDERATION BY THE DIRECTORS OF MATTERS RELATING TO DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION	26
3.13	STATEMENT OF VOTING AT GENERAL MEETING	27

4.	DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION POLICY (PART 4 OF THE REGULATIONS)	29
4.1	STATUTORY REGIME	29
4.1.1	RESTRICTIONS ON REMUNERATION AND LOSS OF OFFICE PAYMENTS	29
4.1.2	STRUCTURE AND SIGNIFICANCE OF THE REMUNERATION POLICY	30
4.2	INTRODUCTORY	30
4.3	FUTURE POLICY TABLE	33
4.3.1	SALARY	34
4.3.2	BENEFITS	34
4.3.3	PENSION	35
4.3.4	SHORT TERM AND LONG TERM INCENTIVES	35
4.4	NOTES TO THE FUTURE POLICY TABLE	37
4.5	NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS	38
4.6	APPROACH TO RECRUITMENT REMUNERATION	38
4.7	SERVICE CONTRACTS	40
4.8	ILLUSTRATIONS OF THE APPLICATION OF THE REMUNERATION POLICY	40
4.9	POLICY ON PAYMENT FOR LOSS OF OFFICE	44
4.10	STATEMENT OF CONSIDERATION OF EMPLOYMENT CONDITIONS ELSEWHERE IN THE COMPANY	45
4.11	STATEMENT OF CONSIDERATION OF SHAREHOLDER VIEWS	46
5.	APPENDIX	47
1	APPROVAL OF REMUNERATION POLICY	47
2	TIMING OF ACCOUNTS OR GENERAL MEETINGS TO APPROVE REMUNERATION POLICY	48
3	WEBSITE STATEMENT WHEN DIRECTOR LEAVES	49
4	GLOSSARY	50
6.	RESPONDENTS TO CONSULTATION ON GUIDANCE	57

In 2013, new UK regulations gave shareholders a binding vote on companies' remuneration policies and introduced a range of new disclosures. This Directors' Remuneration Reporting Guidance published by the GC100 and Investor Group (Group) alongside the regulations is designed to assist companies and their investors in the interpretation of the regulations. It is recognised that the binding vote, and the accompanying disclosures, have been successful in increasing the number of interactions and engagements between companies and their investors. Indeed, many investors have used the engagements on remuneration matters as an opportunity to raise wider governance and ESG matters. Investors also use the disclosures as an insight into corporate culture.

The Group is mindful that the guidance needs to remain relevant by adapting to evolving best practice and regulatory changes, while also providing clarity and direction on areas of confusion or contention.

In 2016, at the end of the first three-year cycle of shareholder-approved remuneration policies, the Group consulted widely which resulted in an updated edition of the guidance.

In 2018, changes were made to this guidance following amendments to the directors' remuneration reporting regulations. The primary areas that were amended or were new included the exercise of discretion, considerations surrounding share price appreciation and reporting of pay ratios.

In 2019, the implementation of the revised Shareholder Rights Directive (SRD II) led to further updates to the guidance given the impact on the directors' remuneration reporting regulations. The key areas of change included:

- Regulatory definitions for the employee comparator group and directors that are required when calculating percentage change in pay.
- Discussion of measures taken to avoid or manage conflicts of interest in relation to determination, review and implementation of the remuneration policy.
- Extension of coverage to include those considered to be CEO or deputy CEO, even where they are not appointed as directors.

While the Group is confident that these revised guidelines will continue to be a useful aid for both companies and investors, we intend to review the document on a regular basis to ensure it remains relevant and useful.

It is only with the commitment of others that these guidelines are successful. To this end, the Group is grateful to and would like to thank those who took the time to provide thoughtful consultation responses. The Group is also indebted to Julie Stanbrook and Camelia Thomas, and their colleagues at Thomson Reuters, for their unfaltering professional support throughout.

GEOF STAPLEDON

Vice President Governance BHP

Geof Stoylela

IAN BURGER

Head of Governance and Stewardship

NEWTON INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 STRUCTURE OF THIS GUIDANCE

The guidance addresses the key elements of the government's directors' remuneration reporting requirements.

This guidance relates to the disclosures required by Schedule 8 to the Large and Medium-sized Companies and Groups (Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008 (*SI 2008/373*) (as amended) (the **Regulations**), which came into force on 1 October 2013. The guidance was first published in September 2013. The second edition (August 2016) reflected changes resulting from a review by the Group of experience over the 2014 to 2016 AGM seasons, and feedback from companies, investors, advisers, other market participants and government. The third edition incorporated guidance on the amendments to the Regulations made by the Companies (Miscellaneous Reporting) Regulations 2018, together with feedback from the same group of stakeholders as commented on the draft second edition. The fourth edition includes changes to the Regulations flowing from the revised EU Shareholder Rights Directive (SRDII).

The guidance suggests "best practice" in the view of both investors and companies. However, the guidance is not intended to be exhaustive or definitive, nor should it be seen as precluding innovation in reporting on remuneration. On the contrary, companies should avoid boilerplate language and strive instead to provide meaningful and preferably concise disclosures relevant to the company and its particular circumstances.

There has been generally an improvement in the quality of remuneration reporting since the Regulations were introduced, but the Group believes that companies should continue to focus on clarity and conciseness. Remuneration committees may find it helpful to consider:

- Any feedback from shareholders on the last remuneration report and policy, and whether this suggests matters that could be set out more clearly and concisely in the next.
- What might make it easier for investors and other stakeholders to assess and understand each part of a remuneration report (or policy).
- Whether the report clearly explains the thinking and purpose behind the committee's decisions and choices.

Timely, open and constructive engagement between companies and investors is important, in particular, where changes are proposed to remuneration arrangements.

The Regulations deal with remuneration disclosures in a technical way, but also point to the general importance of the relationship between directors' pay and company performance. While this guidance deals specifically with the requirements of the Regulations, companies should keep in mind the broader context of narrative reporting and their overall strategy for the relevant financial years. This is discussed further in 2.2: Annual statement.

1.2 HOW TO USE THIS GUIDANCE

It is essential that this guidance is read alongside the Regulations. It is not intended to be a substitute for the Regulations, nor does it contain definitive legal advice.

The aim of this guidance is to facilitate the statutory regime and help companies satisfy the reporting requirements prescribed. To ensure that investors can make informed voting decisions, in some instances, the guidance recommends disclosures that go beyond the requirements in the Regulations. To be clear, the guidance uses the following phrases:

- "Must": This is a mandatory disclosure which companies must include to ensure compliance with the Regulations and the Companies Act 2006.
- "Should": The Group has used "should" where, although not expressly required by
 the words of the Regulations, it believes the matter reflects the underlying intention
 of the Regulations and is established as good practice (taking account of the first
 five years of the Regulations' operation).
- "May wish to consider": Although going beyond the specific requirements of the Regulations, the Group feels that for many companies these disclosures will promote effective engagement between investors and companies.
- "Investors generally expect": Although not guidance on specific requirements of the Regulations, this provides some context for companies.

The guidance is structured as follows:

- The sections of the guidance are in the same order as the Regulations.
- The text under the heading "Requirement" is a summary of the relevant paragraph of the Regulations and not the full text.

The Group wants to encourage innovation in reporting and not boilerplate disclosures. Companies need to determine remuneration policies that fit their individual requirements.

1.3 FLEXIBILITY, DISCRETION AND JUDGEMENT

Background and introduction

The company's remuneration committee's approach to flexibility, discretion and judgement in respect of directors' pay is an important practical issue. Discretion is relevant to many aspects of policy and disclosure, but is not dealt with in any depth by distinct provisions in the Companies Act 2006 or the Regulations. Given their importance, the Group felt that discretion and related concepts should be addressed in this section, before setting out more specific guidance on its use under the Regulations.

Companies and shareholders want directors to be remunerated in a way that reflects the directors' performance in delivering the company's strategy. This approach should be reflected in the application of the policy, particularly at the end of performance periods. The Group notes that "The Government recognises that discretion need not necessarily result in pay being adjusted down. Just as significant share price growth may not always be attributable primarily to executive directors' performance, so a significant fall in the company's share price may be in spite of a strong performance by directors which a remuneration committee may wish to recognise." Accordingly, as this Guidance has stated since its inception, remuneration committees should be encouraged to apply discretion in either an upwards or a downwards direction. A decision by a remuneration committee to apply upwards discretion will inevitably be the subject of considerable shareholder scrutiny and will require careful explanation and in certain cases prior dialogue with shareholders.

¹ The Companies (Miscellaneous Reporting) Regulations 2018 Q&A, page 25. The Q&A is available at: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/corporate-governance-new-reporting-regulations.

The Group recognises that the simple application of arithmetic performance targets may lead to anomalies such as a maximum bonus being paid when those targets have been met, whereas investors may consider that the overall performance of the company has been below par. Equally, where qualitative performance measures are used, and performance against those measures is assessed as being very good, but the company's overall financial performance over the relevant assessment period is not commensurate with that assessment. In these types of situations, investors generally expect the remuneration committee to give careful consideration to a moderation of formulaic outcomes (through the exercise of discretion) so that the remuneration outcome balances management performance and the shareholder experience.

Under the statutory regime, a remuneration committee will prepare a remuneration policy and seek authority from the shareholders in a general meeting for its implementation. In drafting the policy, the remuneration committee will need to give itself sufficient operational flexibility over pay, some of which may be provided by setting out discretions for the committee to use. The remuneration committee will then need to exercise discretion or judgement in various circumstances when implementing the approved policy. To this extent, the statutory regime has not altered the role of the committee but has set requirements that must be met before any discretion can be exercised.

The Group's view is that flexibility, discretion and judgement are crucial for the successful design and implementation of a remuneration policy. This is acknowledged by the Investment Association remuneration principles.²

Shareholders recognise that one of the tasks of the non-executive directors is the oversight of the performance of the executive directors and of the business as a whole. They, through the remuneration committee, are best placed to exercise flexibility, discretion or judgement and to ensure a fair outcome in remuneration.

Concepts of flexibility, discretion and judgement

The Group approaches the concepts of flexibility, judgement and discretion, and their relationship, in the following way:

- Flexibility needs to be provided for in drafting the remuneration policy, and this will
 require some discretion to be included. Flexibility is crucial in the implementation
 of a three-year approved policy, and its scope needs to be clearly set out within the
 policy. Once the framework of remuneration has been approved by the shareholders,
 each year the remuneration committee will need flexibility to determine pay, shortterm incentives and the terms of long-term incentives (such as share plan awards).
- Discretion, in an upwards or downwards direction, may be needed to ensure that
 the outcome of implementation of the remuneration policy is fair to the director and
 fair to the investors, taking into account the overall performance and position of the
 company. Other kinds of discretion may also be required, such as the ability to set
 the level of each component of remuneration within a range from time to time over
 the life of the policy.
- Judgement also may be needed in respect of features such as the incentive targets used in the annual implementation of the policy (for example, where qualitative targets are used as part of a "personal" performance measure or a strategic performance measure).

Discretion or judgement?

There is an important distinction between discretion and judgement, and both have a role to play in pay decisions. In a number of areas, the remuneration committee is routinely asked to apply its judgement to what is appropriate within the bounds of the remuneration policy, or of a particular remuneration award or arrangement.

² The Investment Association Principles of Remuneration, dated November 2018, available at: https://www.ivis.co.uk/media/13874/Principles-of-Remuneration-Nov-2018-FINAL.pdf. The Group's view is also reinforced by The UK Corporate Governance Code 2018 (2018 Code) Principle R and provision 37.

This will not necessarily represent the exercise of "discretion" in the meaning of the Regulations. For example, the assessment of the satisfaction of an annual bonus objective based on progress against an aspect of strategy will be a matter for judgement rather than discretion.

Judgement of this kind, if no discretion is involved, need not be disclosed under the requirements relating to discretion. However, the remuneration committee may wish to consider disclosing the factors taken into account when they have exercised their judgement in determining the extent to which the relevant objective has been satisfied, to provide investors sufficient insight to be able to assess the link between pay and performance. The extent of the explanation that investors generally expect to see will vary depending on the complexity of the case.

REQUIREMENTS (PARAGRAPHS 3(aa), 12(3) AND 24(4) OF THE REGULATIONS)

The Regulations include three express requirements about discretion, one applying to the remuneration committee chairman's annual statement, one to the **annual remuneration report** and the other to the remuneration policy, and no express references to flexibility or judgement. The Companies Act 2006 and the Regulations also include provisions with implicit effects in respect of flexibility, judgement and discretion over pay.

The remuneration committee chairman's annual statement must summarise, for the financial year, any discretion which has been exercised in the award of directors' remuneration.

Where any discretion has been exercised in respect of a short-term or long-term incentive companies must include after the single total figure table:

- Details of how the discretion was exercised:
- How the resulting level of award was determined; and
- Whether the discretion was exercised as a result of share price appreciation or depreciation (see paragraph 12(3)(d) of the Regulations).

Where the remuneration policy provides for the exercise of discretion over "any aspect of the policy", it must also clearly disclose the extent of that discretion in respect of any "such variation, change or amendment". Companies can decide the appropriate manner in which to set out the extent of discretion, as the Regulations do not require this to be done quantitatively (or in any other specified manner). However, companies must make the extent clear in each case, and will want it to be clear so that discretion can be used with confidence (see paragraph 24(4) of the Regulations).

The maximum for each component, which is required to be specified in the **future policy table** (see 4.3: Future policy table), will constrain the extent of any discretion applicable to that component. The way that each maximum is expressed may also suggest how to express the extent of a discretion over that component (see paragraph 26(c) of the Regulations). The remuneration policy must also explain how each component of remuneration "operates", and this will provide the context in which discretion must be described (see paragraph 26(b) of the Regulations).

GUIDANCE

Remuneration committees may wish to consider the following two priorities:

- A policy should ensure that investors have sufficient information to be able to approve
 it, broadly knowing what to expect in terms of directors' remuneration while avoiding
 the risk of unexpected outcomes in future annual remuneration reports.
- The remuneration committee will also need flexibility to tailor the terms of remuneration arrangements for individual directors over the life of the policy, without the policy becoming a "shopping list" of possible components (which could be another way of providing for all reasonable eventualities with less reliance on discretion).³

³ Note that provision 40 of the 2018 Code sets out the matters that the remuneration committee should address when determining executive pay and policies.

The Group does **not** recommend including in the policy only a general statement that all of the components of remuneration are subject to appropriate adjustment at the complete discretion of the remuneration committee. Investors are likely to have concerns about the way such a broad discretion might be used, and so find it hard to approve the policy. Equally, companies may find such a broad discretion difficult to exercise with confidence if (as will often be the case) there is any doubt that investors will agree. However, given that a policy, expected to last for three years, is the authority under which the company can pay its directors, it may be reasonable for the policy to provide for some discretion to be used in genuinely unforeseen and exceptional circumstances.

Remuneration committees, in preparing their remuneration policies, will need to analyse each component of the remuneration package for directors, both executive and non-executive. They will need to consider the flexibility, judgement and discretion that will or may be required, including when hiring or parting company with directors. Having specified as clearly as possible the operational discretions that remuneration committees reasonably anticipate they may need, it may be appropriate for the policy to provide for an "emergency" discretion for use only in other circumstances, which will be genuinely unforeseen and exceptional.

An example of circumstances requiring such a discretion might be an urgent need to provide a benefit of a type related to changed circumstances or strategy that has not been provided for in a recently approved policy, when it would be disproportionate to seek specific approval from a general meeting. Investors will find it easier to approve policies including such discretions if they are drafted so as to reduce the scope for misuse (for example, by including a specific higher maximum for long-term incentives to be used only in genuinely unforeseen and exceptional circumstances).

A notable number of the remuneration reports published in the first year of the Regulations included assurances given by remuneration committees. The intent was to narrow discretions that investors found too broad after publication of the annual report but prior to the AGM (assurances are discussed further at 3.11: Statement of implementation of remuneration policy in the current financial year). The provision of such assurances is generally undesirable.

Therefore, the Group emphasises that this guidance section on discretion should be read as a whole. Companies may well face unexpected developments over the term of a policy, but a broad discretion to address those will be more likely to be approved if it is drafted and explained to make investors confident that it will be used only if and as genuinely required, and within an acceptable maximum (either the general, or a higher exceptional, maximum).

Where an exercise of discretion is disclosed in the annual remuneration report, investors generally expect that companies will report the circumstances leading to that exercise of discretion and why it was required and how the remuneration outcome changed as a result.

2. DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION REPORT

2.1 INTRODUCTORY (PART 1 OF THE REGULATIONS)

REQUIREMENT (PARAGRAPHS 1-2 OF THE REGULATIONS)

The directors' remuneration report (**remuneration report**)⁴ must contain an annual statement, an annual report on remuneration (**annual remuneration report**) and the directors' remuneration policy (**remuneration policy**). The remuneration policy may be omitted if the company does not intend to propose a resolution to approve the remuneration policy. Where a remuneration policy is omitted, the remuneration report must include details of when the remuneration policy was approved and where it can be found on the company's website (see paragraph 1 of the Regulations).

For the purposes of the Regulations, a chief executive officer (however described) or, where such a function exists, deputy chief executive officer (however described) is to be treated as a director regardless of whether or not they have been appointed as a director. This deeming treatment does not apply to the references to directors in paragraphs 2(2), 2(5), 3, 5(2), 6(1)(b), 10(3), 22(1), 23(c), 24(4), and 48 of the Regulations.

The remuneration report may include more information or detail than required if the directors think fit.

Required disclosures about performance measures or targets can be withheld if commercially sensitive, in the opinion of the directors. However, the omission and the reasons for it must be declared in the remuneration report, which must also indicate if and when the information will be disclosed in future (see paragraph 2 of the Regulations).

GUIDANCE

Content and format. As the application of the remuneration policy will be reported upon in the annual remuneration report⁵, investors would generally find it useful for companies to include the remuneration policy in the remuneration report each year, even in years when it is not put to the vote. A summary or extract of the remuneration policy may be sufficient to provide clarity surrounding the remuneration report. In any event, a full copy of the remuneration policy should be made available on the company's website.

Although this guidance follows the order of the Regulations, when drafting the remuneration report, companies may find it more appropriate to set out the remuneration policy first, followed by the annual remuneration report.

Coverage beyond formally appointed directors

As part of the SRD II amendments, the Regulations now state that a chief executive officer (however described) or, where such a function exists in the company, a deputy chief executive officer (however described) is to be treated as a director regardless of whether or not they have been appointed as a director. Where a company has not appointed a CEO or deputy CEO as a director, the intention of this provision is to ensure that the most appropriate person is captured by the reporting requirements. This person may be the most senior member of the company's executive committee.

Companies (Directors' Remuneration Policy and Directors' Remuneration Report) Regulations 2019: Frequently Asked Questions (**2019 FAQs**) clarify that "The regulations implement this extended definition of director solely for the purposes of future reporting of directors' remuneration in the UK. The responsibilities of a company's directors under existing UK law relating to directors' remuneration

⁴ The directors' remuneration report must not include personal data of a director that falls within a special category of data listed in Article 9(1) of Regulation (EU) 2016/679 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 27 April 2016 on the protection of natural persons with regard to the processing of personal data and on the free movement of such data, or personal data which refers to the family situation of individual directors (paragraph 2(2A) of the Regulations).

⁵ Except in the first year after approval, if the new policy incorporates and applies the old policy until the end of the year of approval.

remain unchanged and are not extended as to apply to any CEO or deputy CEO who does not sit on the board". In addition, the 2019 FAQs make it clear that this provision is of limited scope: "The regulations extend directors' remuneration reporting only to those persons not on the board of a UK registered quoted or traded company who occupy the roles of CEO or deputy CEO (however they are described within that company). Other senior management functions (e.g. Chief Risk Officer, Chief Operating Officer or Chief Commercial Officers), or individuals not on the board who have 'director' in their title (e.g. Director of Communications or Strategy Director) are not covered by these regulations".⁶

Commercially sensitive performance measures or targets. Where the Regulations require the provision of information in respect of performance measures or targets, disclosure of that information is not mandatory where, in the opinion of the directors, it is commercially sensitive. Where information is not included on this basis, particulars of, and the reasons for, the omission must be given in the remuneration report and an indication given of when (if at all) the information is to be reported.

Any decision to rely on the commercial sensitivity carve-out should not be taken lightly. It should be taken only where there are company-specific circumstances that lead the directors to positively form the opinion that the performance measure or target in question is commercially sensitive. And, before forming that opinion, the directors should take account of the general investor expectations set out below.

• Short-term incentives. Investors understand that prospective disclosure of the targets related to certain short-term incentive measures would commonly give rise to commercial sensitivity issues (for example, where the performance measure is a component of the company's annual financial budget. In such circumstances, investors do not generally expect prospective disclosure of the targets in the statement of implementation of the remuneration policy in the current financial year (see paragraph 21(2) of the Regulations).

However, investors generally expect retrospective disclosure of those targets. The retrospective disclosure could be at the end of the **reported year**, in the short-term incentive information that appears after the **single total figure table** (see *paragraph 12(3)(a)-(c)* of the Regulations). Or, where the directors conclude that commercial sensitivity remains an issue, the retrospective disclosure could be made at a later time; in this situation, investors generally expect the remuneration report to contain a commitment to disclose at a specified time in the future.

As regards the information to be disclosed on targets – that is, what targets were set at the beginning of the period and what was the actual performance relative to them; (see *paragraph 12(3)(b)-(c)* of the Regulations), investors generally expect the full range (for example, threshold, target and maximum) to be disclosed retrospectively.

• **Long-term incentives.** Investors generally expect prospective and retrospective disclosure of the targets related to long-term incentive measures (prospective: see *paragraph 21(2)* of the Regulations; retrospective: see paragraph 12(3)(a)-(c) of the Regulations).

Where the nature of a long-term incentive's performance measure is such that commercial sensitivity exists (for example, it relates to a key strategic initiative that would be valuable information to major competitors if disclosed), investors generally expect the remuneration report to contain a commitment to disclose at a specified time in the future. In addition, in relation to awards that are yet to reach the end of their performance period, if targets have not been disclosed prospectively on commercial sensitivity grounds, investors generally expect the remuneration

⁶ The Companies (Directors' Remuneration Policy and Directors' Remuneration Report) Regulations 2019: Frequently Asked Questions, page 9. The FAQs are available at: https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/ government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/808993/corporate-governance-directorsrenumeration-policy-renumeration-report.pdf

committee to consider including in the annual remuneration report qualitative commentary relating to intra-cycle performance (i.e. updates on performance to date) in order to provide an indication of projected vesting.

While the Regulations do not provide a definition of "commercially sensitive", to rely on the exemption from disclosure of a "commercially sensitive" measure or target, the directors must consider carefully what "commercially sensitive" means and whether the exemption applies.

Once a measure or target ceases to be "commercially sensitive", investors expect it to be disclosed in the next annual remuneration report.

2.2 ANNUAL STATEMENT (PART 2 OF THE REGULATIONS)

REQUIREMENT (PARAGRAPH 3 OF THE REGULATIONS)

The remuneration report must contain a statement from the director who fulfils the role of chairman of the remuneration committee summarising, for the reported year, four matters: the major decisions on directors' remuneration; any discretion exercised; any substantial changes made to directors' remuneration, and the context in which those changes occurred.

GUIDANCE

The remuneration committee chairman's statement is an important opportunity to set the tone for the whole remuneration report. This annual statement may take the form of a short, succinct letter to shareholders (but this format is not obligatory). Each company will wish to focus on different aspects of their remuneration arrangements in this statement depending on their own circumstances in the reported year. The committee chairman's statement must include the four matters summarised under the 'Requirement' heading above. While addressing those four or other matters, companies may wish to consider including some or all of the following disclosures (of course, others may also be relevant):

- The rationale for the major decisions made by the remuneration committee during the year.
- The remuneration philosophy underpinning decisions and how company performance during the year is reflected in the remuneration outcome.
- The link between remuneration and the company's strategy, including how the overall remuneration package balances rewards for management performance and a share in the success (or failure) of the company (see further details below).
- Where approval of the remuneration policy is sought, highlighting the key changes to the remuneration policy, including a summary explanation of why changes were required.
- Why the remuneration committee considered it appropriate to exercise discretion in a particular fashion and the impact on the payment of that exercise of discretion.⁸
- · Comment on any stakeholder engagement conducted during the year.

Linking remuneration to the company's strategy remains an important area for investors. This has been given greater emphasis by the requirements to publish an annual strategic report. Investors believe that many companies should give this area particular focus.

While this is required as part of the future policy table (see *paragraphs 25–26* of the Regulations), investors generally expect that this should be supplemented by relevant disclosures in the annual remuneration report. Companies should take the opportunity to give this the appropriate emphasis and explanation in the remuneration committee chairman's statement. Demonstrating the linkage to strategy will be crucial

⁷ Note that provision 41 of the 2018 Code sets out a non-exhaustive list of what should be included in the description of the work of the remuneration committee in the annual report.

⁸ See 'Concepts of flexibility, discretion and judgment' in 1.3: Flexibility, discretion and judgement.

for companies as their remuneration structures evolve, discretions are exercised and remuneration policies come up for renewal.

The annual strategic report was introduced at the same time as the remuneration reporting reforms, and in it, a company is required to set out its strategy and objectives. The need to explain the link between remuneration and strategy in the remuneration report thus invites cross-referencing and alignment between these two reports (for example, how the company's key performance indicators and risks have been factored into the remuneration structure). In addition, remuneration committees may wish to consult the Financial Reporting Council (FRC) guidance on the strategic report, and the FRC Financial Reporting Lab's insight report on clear and concise reporting⁹. Both encourage and guide companies to produce a "joined up" report.

3. ANNUAL REMUNERATION REPORT (PART 3 OF THE REGULATIONS)

The annual remuneration report must set out information, other than the remuneration policy, on directors' remuneration paid in the reported year. The annual remuneration report must include a single total figure for each director's remuneration in the reported year and in the year before, and for each component of that remuneration, including pension entitlements and variable pay awarded. It must also include a statement of how the remuneration policy will be implemented in the **current year**, including, where applicable, details of performance targets and measures not previously disclosed and how awards will be calculated.

3.1 SINGLE TOTAL FIGURE OF REMUNERATION

REQUIREMENT (PARAGRAPHS 4-12 OF THE REGULATIONS)

The annual remuneration report must include a table showing the single total figure of remuneration for each director for the reported year and the financial year before that. The company may disclose the information for executive and non-executive directors in separate tables.

The table must include, for each of the two years, a total figure and show the breakdown of that figure by disclosing figures for distinct components including: base salary; taxable benefits; short-term incentives (including any deferred component); long-term incentives vested in the year; pension related benefits; any other items in the nature of remuneration and any sum recovered or withheld during the year in respect of amounts paid in earlier years. In addition to the total figure, the table must also include figures for total fixed remuneration (columns 'a', 'b' and 'e' – and any additional columns relevant to this calculation) and total variable remuneration (columns 'c' and 'd' – and any additional columns relevant to this calculation). The table may also include such other information as the directors determine.

In relation to short-term and long-term incentives, there must be disclosed after the table details of the performance measures used, the performance targets set at the beginning of the performance period, details of actual performance achieved and the amount (or an estimate of the amount) of the award that is attributable to share price appreciation.

Certain key performance indicators disclosed in the strategic report may fall within the definition of alternative performance measure (APM) and be subject to ESMA's Guidelines on Alternative Performance Measures which apply to all APMs presented on or after 3 July 2016. See the FRC's Frequently Asked Questions on ESMA APM Guidelines (October 2015), available at: https://www.frc.org.uk/news/may-2016/faqs-on-esma-apm-guidelines.

⁹ The FRC's, Guidance on the Strategic Report (July 2018), available at: https://www.frc.org.uk/news/july-2018/ revised-guidance-on-the-strategic-report.

The Financial Reporting Lab's insight report: Towards Clear and Concise Reporting (August 2014), available at: https://www.frc.org.uk/getattachment/4c45a275-cdda-4af0-8676-1fafa78af3bd/FRC-Lab-Towards-Clear-Concise-Reporting.pdf.

Where any discretion has been exercised in respect of a short-term or long-term incentive that vested in the reported year, details must be given of how the discretion was exercised, how the level of award was determined and whether the discretion was exercised as a result of share price appreciation or depreciation.

GUIDANCE

Separate tables for executive and non-executive directors' remuneration. Companies may set out separate tables for executive and non-executive directors with their own notes. This might be clearer for investors than combining the information into one table (see *paragraph 4(2)* of the Regulations).

Items "in the nature of remuneration". Companies need to determine if they have any unusual remuneration arrangements which do not fall within the five specified headings (salary, taxable benefits, short-term incentives, long-term incentives and pensions) and are not payments to former directors. If there are "other items in the nature of remuneration" they must be included in additional columns. It is difficult to give examples, but such items may include:

- · Buy-out awards.
- Promises to pay, if not caught by the specific pension disclosure requirement.
- HMRC-approved SAYE options and share incentive plan awards.
- Any incentive awards not related to performance, such as a retention bonus.
- Benefits on which no tax is payable due to an available exemption.
- Shares held pre-IPO which are converted to ordinary shares at the IPO.

To ensure that companies account for all items deemed to be "in the nature of remuneration", companies may wish to consider, as a matter of good practice, obtaining written confirmation from each director that they have not received "any other items in the nature of remuneration", other than those already disclosed in the single total figure table. Companies may wish to consider disclosing that they have done this in the annual remuneration report (see paragraph 6(1)(a) of the Regulations).

Tax benefit. If a company pays the directors' tax liability on taxable benefits, this must be disclosed, with the total of the benefit plus tax in the "taxable benefits" column. Similarly, tax met on any other component of remuneration will be a taxable benefit and must be included accordingly (see paragraph 7(1)(b) of the Regulations).

Short-term and long-term incentives where measures or targets are not fully completed. The primary requirement is to include an amount in the single total figure table relating to short-term and long-term incentives where performance measures have ended in the reported year. However, the Regulations also allow companies to include any short-term and long-term incentives for which the performance measures or targets are "substantially (but not fully) completed" in the reported year. In these circumstances, companies must:

- Clearly explain which short-term and long-term incentives have been included in the relevant single total figure.
- · Set out the basis of the calculation.
- Report on a consistent basis in future years (see paragraph 8(1) of the Regulations).

Treatment of share options. Share options with performance measures over more than one financial year must be reported in the single figure for long-term incentives for the year in which they vest, whether or not they are exercised in that year¹⁰.

¹⁰ Subject to the proviso that they may be reported for the year before, if the performance measures are "substantially (but not fully) completed" in that earlier year.

As a result, the loss of a vested but unexercised share option on termination must be reported as a **recovery** (see the next paragraph). It is not necessary to treat shares that can be acquired under a vested but unexercised share option as "deferred", as details of a deferral of long-term incentives need not be disclosed (although companies may choose to do so). In any case, when the shares are acquired will be largely under the director's control, unlike a deferred short-term incentive.

However, companies must provide details of directors' scheme interests (including vested but unexercised options and options exercised in each reported year) in the annual remuneration report, and may choose to provide that information in a more frequently updated form on their websites (see 3.6: Statement of directors' shareholding and share interests). The net value of shares under option for each director at least at the end of each reported year will therefore be accessible to investors, and companies may wish to consider whether in certain circumstances it might be appropriate to add further explanation about this point (see paragraphs 7(1)(d) and 12(4) of the Regulations).

Dividends and dividend-equivalent payments. Paragraph 10(1)(d)(iii) of the Regulations requires inclusion of any dividend or dividend-equivalent payment receivable in relation to a long-term incentive that is required to be included in the long-term incentive column.

Pension related benefits in the reported year. The total value of pension related benefits in the reported year must be disclosed in the single total figure table (including pension accrual, pension funding by the employer and payments in lieu of pension provision). The Regulations specify a special valuation method for all such benefits **except** payments in lieu, for which the simple cash value is reported (see *paragraphs* 7 (1)(e), 10(1)(e) and 10(2) of the Regulations).

This is an annual "input" figure. The Regulations also require the disclosure of total pension entitlements accrued while serving as a director, but only for certain types of pension arrangement (see 3.2: Total pension entitlements).

Recovery and withholding (clawback and malus). Any recovery of sums paid in any previous financial year, or the **withholding** of any sum in the reported year, must be shown in a separate column as a negative value and deducted from the total. An explanation for the recovery or withholding and the basis of the calculation must be given.

Recovery and withholding are not defined in the Regulations. A "recovery" will take place when any amount is repaid, or when there is a reduction of any vested but unpaid amount (such as a formally deferred short-term or long-term incentive, or a vested but unexercised option). A "withholding" will take place when any amount that would otherwise have been paid in the year is reduced.

Withholding will often implement an adjustment needed in respect of an amount previously paid, as it can be easier (from a legal and tax perspective) to do this than require repayment of already paid sums. Similar concepts are often referred to in practice as clawback and malus. Some care may be needed with terminology in this area.

Since "recovery" in the meaning of the Regulations applies to deferred amounts and vested but unexercised short-term incentives, as well as to amounts actually received, it can encompass both clawback and malus. The remuneration committee may wish to consider whether it is appropriate to confirm in the annual remuneration report that it has considered whether any recovery or withholding is appropriate, if none has been made in the reported year (see *paragraph 8(2) of the Regulations*).

Negative value. In cases where a negative value arises, other than through recovery or withholding, this must be expressed as "0" in the table, rather than a negative value. (However, companies should note that "recovery" encompasses the forfeiture on leaving of any deferred shares and vested share options previously disclosed.) This could include circumstances such as share options that are underwater when they vest (see *Treatment of share options* above). The Regulations do not require either the

disclosure of a later recovery in the share price bringing such options back into the money, or of any options falling underwater only after vesting (see *paragraph 8(3)* of the Regulations).

Estimated and actual amounts. Differences may well arise between estimated amounts included in the annual remuneration report and the actual amounts that are paid after the annual remuneration report has been finalised. Details of the calculation of the revised sum must be disclosed in the following year's annual remuneration report. Companies may also wish to give an explanation for the difference. Where the difference is substantial, companies may wish to consider a publication on their website to ensure timely disclosure to the market (see *paragraph 9(2) of the Regulations*).

Performance measures and targets. The required disclosures on performance measures and targets for short-term and long-term incentives must appear after the single total figure table. See *2.1: Introductory*, which summarises what investors generally expect and also discusses commercial sensitivity.

Impact of share price appreciation. Companies must disclose the amount of a short- term or long-term incentive award that is attributable to share price appreciation. Where this is not ascertainable, an estimate must be disclosed (see paragraph 12(3)(ca) of the Regulations).

It would be uncommon for a short-term incentive award to be attributable, wholly or partly, to share price appreciation given that the performance measures tend to be either non-financial measures or financial measures not linked to share price. In addition, short-term incentive awards are commonly delivered partly in cash and partly in deferred shares that are not subject to any further performance measures. Deferred shares of this type are included in the short-term incentive column of the single total figure table for the reported year (see Deferred short-term and long-term incentives below). Any subsequent increase in the value of the deferred shares resulting from share price appreciation in the period through to the vesting date does not constitute remuneration for the purposes of the Regulations, and should not be reported under paragraph 12(3)(ca)).

Where deferred shares delivered as part of a short-term incentive award are subject to further performance measures, the deferred shares are an unvested long-term incentive for the purposes of the Regulations (see 'Deferred short-term and long-term incentives' below). Any subsequent increase in the value of the deferred shares resulting from share price appreciation in the period through to the vesting date must be reported under paragraph 12(3)(ca).

In relation to a long-term incentive award delivered in **performance shares**, the amount of the award attributable to share price appreciation can be calculated as:

[Value of the award included in the single total figure table minus dividend equivalent] minus [(Face value of the award at the time of grant, as disclosed in a prior remuneration report under paragraph 14(1)(b)(iii)) multiplied by (the percentage of the award that vested)]

In relation to an award delivered in market-priced options, the amount of the award attributable to share price appreciation can be calculated as:

[Share price on date of vesting minus the option's exercise price] multiplied by [Number of options that vested]

If a long-term incentive award vested due to the satisfaction of an absolute share price target, it is arguable that all of the award value "is attributable to share price appreciation" and should accordingly be disclosed under paragraph 12(3)(ca).

If a long-term incentive award vested due to the satisfaction of an absolute total shareholder return (**TSR**) target, it is arguable that a portion of the award value "is attributable to share price appreciation" and should accordingly be disclosed under

paragraph 12(3)(ca). However, the government has clarified that the intended focus of paragraph 12(3)(ca) is the difference (if any) between the vested value and the face value at the time of grant. Accordingly, if an award vests due to the satisfaction of an absolute share price or absolute TSR target, the company may wish to make a note, perhaps in a footnote, of the technical application of paragraph 12(3)(ca).¹¹

Paragraph 12(3)(ca) contemplates that the amount of an award attributable to share price appreciation will sometimes not be ascertainable, in which case an estimate must be provided. One situation where an estimate would be required is where a company includes an amount in the single total figure table pursuant to paragraph 8(1) of the Regulations (where the performance measures or targets are substantially, but not fully, completed by the end of the reported year).

The Regulations do not refer to the scenario where a long-term incentive award vests and the share price has depreciated since the time of grant. In this situation, investors generally expect this circumstance to be acknowledged in the disclosure of long-term incentives that vested during the year.

Discretion. Where discretion has been exercised in respect of a short-term or long-term incentive, companies must disclose how the discretion was exercised, how the resulting level of award was determined and whether the discretion was exercised as a result of share price appreciation or depreciation (see *paragraph 12(3)(d)* of the Regulations, and the reference to the government's view on upwards and downwards discretion in 1.3 Flexibility, discretion and judgement).

Deferred short-term and long-term incentives. If any element of a short-term incentive, such as annual bonus, is deferred, the company must describe the deferral as required by the Regulations, including details of any conditions attaching to the deferred amount other than performance measures (*see paragraph 12(4) of the Regulations*). However, there is no similar express requirement in respect of the deferral of any long-term incentive, although investors generally expect that any such deferral would be explained.

Where the deferred component of a short-term incentive is not subject to any further performance measures, the deferred amount must be included in the short-term incentive column of the single total figure table (see paragraphs 7(1)(c)(ii) and 10(1) (c) of the Regulations). In contrast, where a company operates a plan that it describes as a short-term incentive, and the deferred component is in fact subject to further performance measures, the deferred component is an unvested long-term incentive for the purposes of the Regulations and must be included in the long-term incentive column of the single total figure table in the year in which final vesting occurs.

Deferral often involves additional conditions that must be met (or not breached) before the deferred amount can be received (recovery conditions). Some recovery conditions could be considered to be "performance measures" that apply only to a deferred amount after the initial vesting period. Investors expect companies to make a sensible and consistent distinction between short-term and long-term incentives. In difficult cases, companies must consider carefully whether to treat a deferred amount as a deferred short-term incentive or an unvested long-term incentive and may wish to consider explaining their approach.¹²

¹¹ The Companies (Miscellaneous Reporting) Regulations 2018 Q&A, page 25. The Q&A is available at: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/corporate-governance-new-reporting-regulations.

¹² The required details include whether deferral "is subject to any conditions other than performance measures" (see paragraph 12(4) of the Regulations). It is not explained why performance measures need not be disclosed, but it may be because a further performance measure would make the amount a long-term incentive. The Regulations treat as a short-term incentive one both awarded in, and vesting by reference to a performance period ending in, the reported year (see paragraph 7(1)(c) of the Regulations); and define "performance measure" as "the measure by which performance is assessed, but" not including "any condition relating to service" (see paragraph 44(1) of the Regulations). Recovery conditions related to performance might be considered performance measures, making the amount an unvested long-term incentive. Alternatively, if the amount is treated as a deferred short-term incentive, those conditions must be disclosed in the remuneration policy as provisions for recovery (see paragraph 26(e) of the Regulations).

3.2 TOTAL PENSION ENTITLEMENTS

REQUIREMENT (PARAGRAPH 13 OF THE REGULATIONS)

The remuneration report must contain for each director the accrued benefits related to service as a director (or in a connected executive role) under a defined benefits or cash balance benefits pension scheme (or a hybrid arrangement including either), if any, at the financial year end, assuming a normal retirement date, and the date the benefit becomes receivable, and the total value of any additional benefit in the event the director retires early. In addition, if the pension value reported in the single total figure table includes more than one type of pension benefit, the report must disclose the relative weighting of each type of benefit.

GUIDANCE

The value of pensions is often substantial. Investors would find it helpful for them to be disclosed by companies in a comprehensive form and in a way that aids understanding of the figures. Companies may wish to consider explaining the key features of the directors' pension entitlement where the single figure does not capture the full entitlement.

Defined benefit scheme. For defined benefit schemes that are not final salary schemes the nature of the benefit must be outlined, along with the accrued amount.

Change to membership status. If there have been any changes to a director's membership status of any pension arrangement during the year, then this must also be disclosed (for example, the date the director joined the scheme, and the date she or he left it). Pension entitlements during the year of departure should be disclosed in full.

Rights. The notes must disclose a director's prospective pension entitlements under any defined benefits or cash balance benefits pension scheme (or a hybrid arrangement including either) at the end of the reported year, assuming the earliest possible voluntary retirement without consent or reduction of pension. Companies may wish to consider summarising these rights as the transfer value, which will be concise and make it easier for investors to compare different types of arrangement.

If trustee or company consent is required for any earlier retirement it would be helpful for this to also be disclosed. Investors generally expect any elements of discretionary benefits that are provided outside the company's intended practice or the pension scheme's normal practice to be indicated clearly.

Multiple pensions. If the pension value reported in the single total figure table includes more than one type of pension benefit, the breakdown or relative weighting of each type must be provided.

Where a director leaves part-way through the reported year. Pension rights for a departing director should be disclosed as at the end of the reported year. In terms of the disclosure for a retired director receiving pension, in place of the previous disclosure in relation to accrued amounts (i.e. expected future pension) the amount disclosed should be the actual annual amount which is now being drawn (together with any lump sum taken). The transfer value would continue to be calculated on the same basis as previously.

3.3 SCHEME INTERESTS AWARDED DURING THE FINANCIAL YEAR

REQUIREMENT (PARAGRAPH 14 OF THE REGULATIONS)

The annual remuneration report must contain a table setting out details of scheme interests (as defined in paragraph 44(1) of the Regulations and meaning any long-term incentive or other long-term award) granted to directors (including any person who served as a director at any time in the year) during the reported year where the value will be determined according to the achievement of performance conditions in future periods or continued employment.

GUIDANCE

The annual remuneration report must contain details of all long-term incentives and other long-term awards granted in the reported year to directors, and to any persons who were directors during the year. If awards were made under a number of different plans, information must be provided for each plan. Companies may wish to consider using separate tables for each type of award to make disclosure clearer.

Type of interest. For each scheme interest, a description of the type of interest awarded must be provided. Such description may, for example, specify performance shares, nil cost options, market value options or matching shares (see paragraph 14(1)(b) (i) of the Regulations). The definition of "share option" in the Regulations includes any performance share award that is a right to acquire shares, even though it is not an exercisable option as usually understood (see *paragraph 44(1) of the Regulations*). As a specific disclosure is required about share options under paragraph 14 of the Regulations (see *Exercise price* below), it may make disclosure clearer if this is borne in mind when describing performance share awards that are share options under the Regulations, even though options are not mentioned in paragraph 14(1)(b)(i).

Basis on which the award is made. It must be made clear how the award is determined, for example a specified multiple of salary or a specified number of shares (see *paragraph 14(1)(b)(ii)* of the Regulations).

Face value. In respect of this requirement, the Regulations do not make a distinction between nil cost, market-priced and discounted share options and any other sharesettled long-term incentive that is not a contractual option. They require the face value of the maximum number of shares that may vest to be disclosed for each award that "relates to shares or share options". The Regulations also impose some requirements relating to the share value used to compute face value for these awards. Face value must also be disclosed for other types of award, but that requirement is not explained further in the Regulations.

When market-priced or discounted options are used, companies may also wish to consider disclosing a fair value for these options, as the face value may overstate the underlying value of the options. Any fair value statement will require a clear explanation of the methodology used. Companies must also disclose if the maximum award that can be achieved at vesting is larger than the face value of any maximum number of shares referred to in the award. This would include situations where a multiplier can be applied to the original award on vesting. Companies that pay dividends or dividend equivalent accrued on awards over the performance period may wish to consider explaining this in a note to the face value (see *paragraphs 14(1)(b)(iii) and 14(2) and (3) of the Regulations*).

Exercise price and date. If the exercise price of a share option is different from the share value used to compute the face value, this must be explained. Share options in the meaning of the Regulations will include some performance share awards (see *Type of interest above*), under which naturally no exercise price will be payable. Strictly, this must be explained, but that could be done by a note that the award is both a performance share award (for which no exercise price is expected), and a share option within the meaning of the Regulations (see paragraphs 14(1)(b)(v) and 44(1) of the Regulations).

An SRD II amendment to the Regulations requires companies to disclose for each scheme interest any change in the exercise price or date. Such changes may occur as a result of an alteration to the structure of the company's share capital (see the 2019 FAQs).

Performance period. If an award will vest in relation to performance over multiple periods, the Regulations require disclosure of the end of the last period to end. (This provision is needed because, if there is only one performance period, the Regulations require its end to be disclosed. In practice, this time is often referred to as the "vesting date".) Investors would find it useful for the vesting schedule of an award with multiple performance periods to be explained clearly if not covered in other sections of the remuneration report (see paragraph 14(1)(b)(vi) of the Regulations).

Performance measures and targets. This is only relevant if not covered elsewhere in the remuneration report. If not covered, for each scheme interest, there must be a summary of the performance measures and targets. Companies may wish to consider including in this summary the type of measure or group of measures, the relative weightings for each measure and specific targets attached to these measures (see paragraph 14(1)(b)(vii) of the Regulations).

3.4 PAYMENTS TO PAST DIRECTORS

REQUIREMENT (PARAGRAPH 15 OF THE REGULATIONS)

The annual remuneration report must contain details of any money or other assets paid during the reported year to former directors (who were not directors at the time of payment), excluding: payments for loss of office; payments shown in the single total figure table; payments previously disclosed; payments below a de minimis threshold set by the company and stated in the report; payments by way of regular pension benefits commenced in a previous year, and payments in respect of employment or other contractual service for the company other than as a director.

GUIDANCE

The Regulations require disclosure of payments made to past directors. Disclosure under this regulation must include payments made to former directors where the amounts were not known at the time of leaving. The nature of these payments will vary depending on circumstances. Companies may wish to consider the following issues:

De minimis threshold. Remuneration committees may wish to consider what is an appropriate de minimis threshold (see *paragraph 15(d)* of the Regulations). Investors do not expect immaterial amounts to be included in the annual remuneration report. If the threshold is changed from one year to the next, companies may wish to consider explaining this in the annual remuneration report.

Long-term incentives vesting to past directors. Whilst the "treatment" of outstanding incentive awards must be disclosed under paragraph 16 of the Regulations (Payments for loss of office) for the year of leaving, vesting may take place in subsequent years, typically once the performance conditions have been assessed, and this may need to be disclosed for the relevant year under paragraph 15 (Payments to past directors).

Payments previously disclosed. If payments for loss of office are phased over a number of years but full disclosure was provided in the first year under paragraph 16 of the Regulations, this information does not need to be disclosed in subsequent years. However, if the total amount was unknown at the point of leaving and only becomes known in subsequent years, then the actual amount must be disclosed in the relevant annual remuneration report as a payment to a past director.

Healthcare premiums. In most cases, healthcare premiums would not be considered to be significant and requiring disclosure, in the context of the overall director's remuneration package. However, companies may have long-standing healthcare arrangements in place for former directors which may be of significant value, particularly for overseas former directors. In such circumstances, companies may wish to disclose that such arrangements exist in the first annual remuneration report after the director leaves but not necessarily in subsequent reports (see *paragraph 15(c) of the Regulations*).

Payments in respect of employment, consultancy or other contractual service for the company except as a director. In instances where a director steps down from the board but is still employed, or otherwise contracted, companies may wish to explain this clearly. Companies may wish to consider disclosure when a past director is appointed to a paid role at the company's pension fund trust, charitable foundation or other connected organisation. Where a former director acts as a consultant to the company, disclosure is not required by the Regulations. However, investors generally expect companies to

consider carefully the adequacy of disclosure to comply with both the Regulations and best practice (see *paragraph 15(f)* of the Regulations).

Nil return. Where no payments to past directors have been made, companies may wish to consider making a "nil return" – a one sentence statement confirming this fact. Where applicable, the sentence could also refer to other matters such as no payments for loss of office.

3.5 PAYMENTS FOR LOSS OF OFFICE

REQUIREMENT (PARAGRAPH 16 OF THE REGULATIONS)

The annual remuneration report must show, excluding payments which are below a de minimis threshold set by the company and stated in the report:

- The total amount of any payment made or to be made for loss of office, broken down into each component comprised in that payment and with the value of each component.
- An explanation of how each component was calculated.
- Any other payments made or to be made in connection with termination, including outstanding incentive awards vesting on or after termination.
- An explanation of how any discretion was exercised.

GUIDANCE

Discretion. Provided that the remuneration committee has remained within the approved remuneration policy, the explanation of how discretion was used should not come as a surprise to investors. In addition to explaining how discretion was exercised, remuneration committees may wish to consider explaining why any use of discretion is in the best interests of the company.

Companies may also wish to consider including the following:

Termination policy. A confirmation that all payments have been or will be made within the parameters of the termination policy set out in the approved remuneration policy.

Reason for leaving. To avoid concerns about rewards for failure, especially where a discretion has been exercised in favour of a director, investors would find it helpful if companies give as complete an explanation as possible of the circumstances surrounding the departure of the director.

Cash bonus. If any short-term incentive has been paid, companies may wish to give a more detailed explanation.

Long-term incentives. Companies may have some difficulty in disclosing the amounts payable under long-term incentive arrangements which may vest over a number of years and therefore not be known definitively at the time of publishing the first annual remuneration report after the date of the director leaving. It must be stated if the award is pro-rated in any way. If vesting is subject to performance conditions being met, it would be misleading to state the total value of as yet unvested shares and companies may prefer to state a range of values.

When actual amounts are determined, investors generally expect these to be disclosed in the annual remuneration report for the relevant year as a payment to past directors.

Section 430(2B) of the Companies Act 2006 requires companies to disclose on their website the amounts (and method of calculation) of any remuneration payments that will (or may) vest after termination and any payments for loss of office. This disclosure will take place before the annual remuneration report is compiled and so could provide a basis for preparing the disclosure in the annual remuneration report. For further guidance, see *Appendix 3: Website statement when director leaves*.

RIS announcements. When a company notifies an **RIS** that a director will be leaving the board (as required by the Listing Rules), it may not be practical, at that time, to release details of any termination arrangements. However, investors generally expect companies to release an RIS announcement at the point of leaving, providing investors with information on the loss of office and remuneration payments which shall be made to the departing director and an explanation of how these amounts have been calculated.

A better estimate or a finalised figure may be possible for some payments by the time the remuneration report is published. It would be helpful to explain in the annual remuneration report any difference between the disclosure in the RIS announcement at the time of termination and disclosure in the annual remuneration report for each relevant payment.

Nil return. The comment made in relation to nil returns in 3.4: Payments to past directors is applicable here also.

3.6 STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS' SHAREHOLDING AND SHARE INTERESTS

REQUIREMENT (PARAGRAPH 17 OF THE REGULATIONS)

The annual remuneration report must contain a statement of any requirements or guidelines for a person who was a director during the reported year to own shares in the company and state whether or not those requirements or guidelines have been met. It must also set out, in tabular form:

- The total number of interests in shares in the company of the director, including interests of connected persons.
- The total number, and details, of scheme interests, differentiating between shares and share options and those with or without performance measures.
- Details of share options which are vested but unexercised, and exercised in the relevant financial year.

GUIDANCE

Director shareholding requirements or guidelines. If such provisions exist, companies must disclose details of them, but the Regulations do not specify the details that must be disclosed. Investors generally expect disclosure to include:

- How much the director is required to hold (this seems likely to be a minimum requirement of the Regulations and could be expressed as a percentage of salary, especially if that is the way the provision is expressed).
- Whether the provision is a requirement or guideline and the approach that the company would take if the requirement or guideline is not met in the specified time period.
- Any period over which the company expects the provisions to be met.
- Details of any requirements in relation to vested short-term or long-term awards (for example, a requirement that a specified percentage of them needs to be held until the provision is met). Note that investors generally expect this also to be disclosed in the "how that component [i.e. the short-term and/or long-term incentive component] of the remuneration package operates" part of the future policy table. See 4.3.4: Short-term and long-term incentives.
- Details of any requirements for directors to hold shares once they have left the company.
- Details of which shares can be included to meet the provision (for example, if it only
 includes shares the director holds outright, that is, those which are no longer subject
 to any restrictions or whether it includes any deferred or unvested shares or shares
 subject to vested but unexercised options).

(See paragraph 17(a) of the Regulations.)

Deferred shares. Any shares receivable under deferred short-term incentives which have not yet vested must be captured in the table, as these are "interests in shares" (see paragraph 17(b)(i) of the Regulations).

Details of scheme interests. Companies must set out the "total number of scheme interests" (which means the number of shares that may vest under long-term incentives and other long-term schemes), and details of those scheme interests (which may exclude any details included elsewhere in the report). It seems unlikely that paragraph 17 of the Regulations also relates to other types of "scheme interest" (such as cash-settled long-term incentives) given that paragraph 17 is headed "statement of directors' shareholding and share interests". In setting out the details of scheme interests, companies must differentiate between "shares and share options".

The definition of "share option" encompasses some share-settled long-term incentives that are not contractual options¹³, and that are more naturally thought of as shares rather than options, so some additional disclosure and explanation may be needed.

Companies must also differentiate between scheme interests with and without performance measures and set out "details" of the scheme interests. Companies may wish to consider disclosing when the award was made, when the award will vest, the share price on grant and the exercise price, if relevant (see *paragraph 17(b)(ii)-(iii)* of the Regulations).

Hedging. Companies may wish to consider providing information on any policies in place to regulate directors' hedging of awards and use of shares as collateral.

Website disclosure. Companies may wish to consider including a periodically updated version of the table of directors' shareholdings and share interests on their website to include significant changes after the remuneration report is published.

3.7 PERFORMANCE GRAPH AND TABLE

REQUIREMENT (PARAGRAPH 18 OF THE REGULATIONS)

The annual remuneration report must contain a line graph that shows the total shareholder return (**TSR**) over a five-year period (in the first remuneration report prepared under the legislation, rising in one-year increments to a ten-year period over the following five years) for both:

- A holding of the company's listed shares.
- A hypothetical comparator holding of shares representing a specified broad equity market index. The annual remuneration report must also explain the reasons for selecting that index.

The annual remuneration report must also contain a table setting out the total remuneration and the amount vesting under short-term and long-term incentives (as a percentage of the maximum that could have been achieved) in each year of the same period for the director holding the post of CEO.

GUIDANCE

The aim of both the graph and the table is to help investors assess whether the pay policy adopted by the remuneration committee is properly relating executive pay to performance.

TSR graph. The Regulations require TSR to be calculated using a fair method (see *paragraph 18(6) - (10) of the Regulations)*. In compiling the graph companies may wish to consider:

 Explaining the key elements of the TSR methodology adopted (for example, whether an averaging methodology is used, if so over what periods, whether TSR

¹³ For the definition, see paragraph 44(1) of the Regulations.

is calculated in constant or local currency and any other aspects that will assist the reader in understanding the graph).

• An explanation for any anomalies in the data of the graph.

For years where performance measures used a comparator group that performed worse than the chosen market index, companies may wish to consider explaining that, and whether the performance measure was expressly approved by shareholders (for example, in respect of a long-term incentive plan).

Table of historic data. This requirement was developed for consideration by the then Department for Business, Innovation & Skills (now the Department for Business, Energy & Industrial Strategy (BEIS)), through the FRC's Financial Reporting Lab, (see the Lab's, see the Lab' project report, Reporting of pay and performance, dated March 2013.¹⁴

Example table:

Year	CEO	CEO Single figure of total remuneration (£'000)	Annual bonus payout against maximum opportunity %	Long-term incentive vesting rates against maximum opportunity %
2018	CEO 2			
2017	CEO 2			
2016	CEO 2			
2015	CEO 2			
2014	CEO 2			
2013	CEO 2			
2012	CEO 2			
2011*	CEO 2			
	CEO 1			
2010	CEO 1			
2009	CEO 1			

*CEO 1 retired at the AGM on 21 May 2011, and CEO 2 took over from that date, having been the COO.

Companies may find the following helpful in compiling the table:

- CEO single total figure of remuneration. This may need to be calculated retrospectively for a company's CEO for the early years in the table, with separate numbers for each CEO in office. The retrospective figure may be based on information supplied in the remuneration report for those previous years or, where no report has been compiled, a suitable corresponding sum. It should be noted that the Financial Reporting Lab suggest that, where a new CEO has taken over, companies may wish to consider presenting the information in respect of each CEO on a separate line in the table.
- Annual variable element award rates against maximum opportunity. For
 most companies this will be annual bonus. This may also need to be calculated
 retrospectively for each CEO in office over the early years in the table. Companies
 may wish to consider including the actual amount of the bonus as well as the
 percentage of the maximum paid.

¹⁴ The Financial Reporting Lab's project report, Reporting of Pay and Performance, available at: https://www.frc.org.uk/getattachment/fe61b54b-a19f-4b08-8566-897fff4587e7/FRC-Lab-Reporting-of-pay-and-performance.pdf.

Long-term incentive vesting rates against maximum opportunity. This may also
need to be calculated retrospectively for each CEO in office over the early years in
the table. Companies may also wish to include the value of the vested shares at the
time of vesting as well as the percentage of the maximum received.

3.8 PERCENTAGE CHANGE IN REMUNERATION OF ALL DIRECTORS AND ALL EMPLOYEES

REQUIREMENT (PARAGRAPH 19 OF THE REGULATIONS)

The annual remuneration report must set out (in a manner that permits comparison) the percentage change between the reported year and the preceding year in certain components of the remuneration of each director (executive and non-executive), and that of all employees of the parent company on a full-time equivalent basis, excluding directors. The three required components are salary or fees, benefits and short-term incentives as set out in the single total figure table. The Regulations require that, going forward, the annual percentage change figures must build incrementally with new annual percentage change figures each year being reported in order to achieve five sets of annual figures.

GUIDANCE

The annual remuneration report must set out the percentage change in the remuneration awarded to each director (executive and non-executive) between the preceding year and the reported year in relation to each of salary, benefits and bonus, as set out in the single total figure table. Prior to the SRD II amendments, this provision related to the CEO but has now been expanded to cover all directors. Companies may wish to consider including an explanation of the reported figures. It should be noted that this requirement does not include long-term incentive awards and pension-related benefits from the single total figure table.

Details of the average percentage change in respect of the remuneration of employees of the parent company on a full-time equivalent basis must also be provided. The previous regulatory provision allowing choice of comparator group was removed in line with the requirements of the SRD II. Another change flowing from SRD II is that this provision now relates only to the employees of the parent company. The previous subparagraph which said "Where the company is a parent company, the statement must relate to the group and not the company ... and the employees are the employees of the group" was deleted in the 2019 amendments. In instances where the parent company only employs a small proportion of the workforce, a company may wish to consider voluntarily disclosing the change in directors' remuneration compared to a wider employee comparator group, if this will provide a more representative comparison.

In order to make the comparisons meaningful, it is suggested that the average percentage change in respect of each of salary, benefits and short-term incentives for employees be a per capita figure.

3.9 PAY RATIO INFORMATION IN RELATION TO THE TOTAL REMUNERATION OF THE DIRECTOR UNDERTAKING THE ROLE OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

REQUIREMENT (PARAGRAPHS 19A-G OF THE REGULATIONS)

Companies within the scope of the Regulations must report in tabular form, within their annual remuneration report, the ratio of the Chief Executive Officer's latest single total figure of remuneration versus UK full-time equivalent (FTE) employees' remuneration (median, upper and lower quartile).

The qualifying condition for a company to be within scope of the Regulations is a company or group having an average number of UK employees in a year of more than 250.

The minimum required format for tabulating the information is:

Year	Method	25th percentile pay ratio	Median pay ratio	75th percentile pay ratio
[Year in which financial year ends]	[Option A, B or C]	(X/Y25):1	(X/Y50):1	(X/Y75):1

The Regulations require that, going forward, the pay ratios table should cover a ten-year reporting period; that is, the disclosure will build in the table incrementally with a new row for each year in order to achieve ten individual reporting years. This includes any year or years in which the company did not need to report ratios after previously having had to report (for any such years, the company should simply note in the relevant column that it was exempt from reporting pay ratios in that financial year)The Regulations stipulate the explanations required of companies. Supporting information and explanations must appear after the table and include whether and how flexibilities have been used, a summary explanation of the components of the employee pay and benefits used to calculate each of the three pay ratios, the total employee pay and benefits figure used in each of the three ratios and the salary component for each. It must also explain why Option A, B or C was chosen, and why (if at all) a different Option was chosen versus previous years. The Regulations and The Companies (Miscellaneous Reporting) Regulations 2018 Q&A issued by the Department for Business, Energy & Industrial Strategy, explain the additional reporting requirements should Option B or C be chosen instead of Option A.

GUIDANCE

The below guidance should be read in conjunction with The Companies (Miscellaneous Reporting) Regulations 2018 Q&A.¹⁵

Certain companies are exempt from reporting on pay ratios. An exempt company may wish to consider including an affirmative statement explaining why it is exempt.

In order to ensure consistency in reporting over the 10-year cycle where headcount varies from year-to-year above or below 250 UK FTE employees, companies may wish to consider continuing to report in line with the Regulations on a voluntary basis. This would aid consistency over multiple years, notwithstanding the variation of UK FTE employees. If a company adopts this voluntary approach, it may wish to consider confirming that its disclosures are voluntary. If a company was exempt from reporting its pay ratios in a particular year, and the company wishes to take advantage of the exemption, a statement detailing this is required to be included in the relevant row within the table.

Where there is a change in CEO during a relevant reporting period, the single total figure for the outgoing CEO plus the single total figure for the incoming or interim CEO must be used. For instances where a company does not have a CEO, investors generally expect the single total figure for the equivalent executive who has operational control of the company to be used. A change in CEO may have an impact on the disclosures; for example, one-off payments to a departing CEO could make one year's pay ratio significantly higher than the year before and the year after despite no change to the "in role" pay of the CEO. The company's supporting explanations to the table will be important in these circumstances.

Companies are free to decide where in the remuneration report this table and supporting statements should appear. Paragraph 19E of the Regulations requires the explanatory statements to appear "after the pay ratios table". The Group believes the explanatory statements should appear directly underneath the table.

¹⁵ The Companies (Miscellaneous Reporting) Regulations 2018 Q&A, available at: https://assets.publishing.service. gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/755002/The_Companies_Miscellaneous_Reporting_Regulations_2018_QA_-Publication_Version_2_1_.pdf.

The methodology adopted should be explained clearly and applied consistently across multiple reporting periods. The government's Q&A document refers to Option A as "the most statistically accurate way for a company to calculate" the pay ratios. Investors generally expect that Option A be adopted given it is considered the most robust, statistically.

Investors generally expect that the same relevant methodology used for calculating the single total figure for the CEO be used for calculating the pay and benefits of UK FTE employees. The Group discourages the use of estimates for employees' non-salary components (such as bonuses); if this is unavoidable, a robust explanation is expected as to why the actual figure could not be calculated and also the methodology used in determining the estimated figure.

While paragraphs 19E, 19F and 19G of the Regulations are explicit, investors consider best practice reporting will be how the Regulations have been applied to the individual circumstances of the company. Investors generally expect consistency of approach across multiple reporting periods for each element of the regulatory requirements.

Any changes in approach should be made clear within the report and justified with a supporting explanation as to the necessity for the change. For example, the chosen Option (A, B or C) used, differing pay components used, changes to the single total figure calculations etc.

Investors will give close attention to the disclosure requirements under 19G of the Regulations, which will help inform best practice reporting. The required disclosures under paragraph 19G include why the pay ratios changed (if at all), what were the attributable factors for the change (if any), the trend in the median pay ratio and how this ratio is consistent with the pay, reward and progression policies for the company's employees. Investors generally expect a remuneration committee to provide an explanation as to why the median pay ratio is a fair reflection of the company's approach to pay, citing the CEO single figure in the context of the policies for all employees' pay. Where a remuneration committee considers that the ratio is not consistent with pay, reward and progression policies, investors generally expect the committee to describe the intended necessary actions that it will take in order to address this issue.

Companies may also wish to consider reporting pay ratios as they relate to their global FTE employees in order to provide context and further explanation.

3.10 RELATIVE IMPORTANCE OF SPEND ON PAY

REQUIREMENT (PARAGRAPH 20 OF THE REGULATIONS)

The annual remuneration report must set out in a graphical or tabular form the total amount spent, in the reported year and the financial year before that and the difference in spend between those years, on each of:

- Remuneration paid to or receivable by all employees of the group.
- Distributions to shareholders by way of dividend or share buyback.
- Any other significant distributions and payments or other uses of profit or cash-flow that the directors deem helpful to understanding the relative importance of spend on pay.

GUIDANCE

Remuneration figure. The figures used for remuneration must refer to all employees including the executive directors. Therefore, to assist with conformity and transparency, companies may wish to take the figures directly from the notes to the accounts relating to staff and employee costs as required by the Companies Act 2006 (see *paragraph* 20(1)(a) of the Regulations).

Dividend or share buyback. Companies may wish to consider showing distributions by way of dividend and share buyback separately (see *paragraph 20(1)(b)* of the Regulations).

Other significant distributions. Investors expect any additional comparisons of other "significant distributions and, payments or other uses of profit or cash flow" to be suitable and relevant. Appropriate additional comparisons may depend on the company's size, its industry or its stage of life cycle. The reasons for choosing any additional comparisons and their method of calculation must be explained in notes to the disclosures. Possible examples include:

- Profits retained within the business.
- Investment for future growth such as capital expenditure or research and development costs.
- · Debt repayments.
- Expenditure related to wider, societal distribution such as tax payments.

When choosing additional comparison items, companies may wish to consider:

- The relevance of the chosen categories of expenditure over the longer-term.
- · Maintaining consistency over time in their reporting.

(See paragraphs 20(1)(c) and 20(2) of the Regulations.)

Investors will find it helpful if the format of disclosure, whether in graphical or tabular form, remains consistent over time. Where comparison items are changed, an explanation must be included in the annual remuneration report (see *paragraph 20(3) of the Regulations*).

Where it is felt that a longer-term perspective may assist investors, companies may wish to consider disclosure over a longer period than the two years specified in the Regulations.

3.11 STATEMENT OF IMPLEMENTATION OF REMUNERATION POLICY IN THE CURRENT FINANCIAL YEAR

REQUIREMENT (PARAGRAPH 21 OF THE REGULATIONS)

The annual remuneration report must contain a statement describing how the company intends to implement the approved remuneration policy in the current financial year. The statement must include, where applicable, the performance measures and relative weightings for each; and performance targets determined for the performance measures and how awards will be calculated.

Where this is not the first year of the approved remuneration policy, the statement should detail any significant changes in the way that the remuneration policy will be implemented in the current year compared to how it was implemented in the reported year. The statement should also detail any deviations from the procedure for the implementation of the remuneration policy set out in the policy. This statement need not include information that is elsewhere in the remuneration report, including any disclosed in the remuneration policy.

GUIDANCE

This requirement, and the related disclosure, is an inevitable consequence of an approved remuneration policy with an expected life of three years.

Companies must set out details of material changes to the remuneration structure (within the approved remuneration policy) and, where applicable, specific details of performance measures and targets for the current year (subject to commercial sensitivity: see 2.1: Introductory), which may not have been determined when the remuneration policy was originally approved.

General changes in remuneration for the current year. Companies must report and explain any significant changes to the way that the approved remuneration policy will be implemented in the current year compared to the reported year. The Regulations do not define or explain what is a "significant change". Companies may wish to consider including:

- · Any change in basic salary.
- Any change in the maximum short-term and long-term incentive awards, even if
 the new maximum is in accordance with the award maximums set out in the future
 policy table.
- Any change in the target short-term and long-term incentive awards, even if the new target is in accordance with the target award levels set out in the future policy table.
- Any change to scheme interests to be awarded compared to the reported year (as set out in the statement on scheme interests awarded during the reported year, required by paragraph 14 of the Regulations).
- · Any change in non-executive directors' fees.
- Any other changes in the way that the approved remuneration policy will be implemented even if it is in accordance with the approved future policy table.

If there are no changes to the implementation of the remuneration policy then the company may wish to consider stating this.

Deviations from the procedure for implementation of the policy. Under an SRD II change, the statement should also detail any deviations from the procedure for the implementation of the remuneration policy set out in the policy. It has not been customary for UK companies to set out, within their remuneration policy, a procedure for the implementation of the policy. Where no such procedure is set out, it will not be possible to detail any deviations.

Some remuneration committees have published assurances about the way aspects of their proposed policies would be implemented (**Assurances**). The Assurances were often given in order to narrow discretions that investors found too broad.

Such Assurances were provided after publication of the annual report but prior to the AGM on the basis that they would bind the company once the policy is approved.

Website publication. An Assurance should be disclosed on the accounts and reports section of the company's website, alongside the items required to be published there.

Reporting of Assurances. An Assurance should be set out in remuneration reports in the following years of the remuneration policy's term, as a disclosure regarding policy implementation in those years. This practice is supported by the Investment Association.

3.12 CONSIDERATION BY THE DIRECTORS OF MATTERS RELATING TO DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION

REQUIREMENT (PARAGRAPH 22 OF THE REGULATIONS)

The annual remuneration report must specify the membership of any board committees that considered directors' remuneration during the reported year (which might be both the remuneration and nomination committees) and persons providing material advice or services to the committee. If external advice or services have been received, the annual remuneration report must state how the remuneration committee satisfied itself that the advice was objective and independent, and must set out details of any other services provided to the company and of the relevant person's appointment, selection and fees.

GUIDANCE

Advice provided to the remuneration, nomination or other relevant committee.

The annual remuneration report must name any person who provided material advice or services to a relevant committee in the reported year, and set out additional details in respect of some of them. These persons may include the following:

- Principal internal providers of material advice and services (for example, human resources and the company secretary).
- Executive directors who may attend meetings of the remuneration committee by invitation, when their own remuneration is not being discussed.
- · Remuneration consultants and advisers.
- External lawyers (as opposed to directly employed in-house lawyers) who provided
 any material advice or services, other than legal advice on compliance with relevant
 legislation, are subject to the additional requirements relating to objectivity,
 independence, appointment, selection and fees. Such advice and services may
 include advice on remuneration or employment practice (rather than relevant
 legislation) or the drafting of remuneration plans or agreements.

(See paragraphs 22(1)(b)-(c), (2) and (3) of the Regulations.)

Objective and independent advice. Companies may wish to consider disclosing the factors which the remuneration committee took into account in determining that the advice received was appropriate, objective and independent.

3.13 STATEMENT OF VOTING AT GENERAL MEETING

REQUIREMENT (PARAGRAPH 23 OF THE REGULATIONS)

The annual remuneration report must set out the following in respect of the last general meeting at which a relevant resolution was put by the company:

- In respect of the resolution to approve the remuneration report and the resolution to approve the remuneration policy, the percentages of votes cast for and against and the number of votes withheld.
- Where there was a significant percentage of votes against either resolution, where known to the directors, the reasons for those votes and any actions taken by the directors in response to investors' concerns.¹⁶

GUIDANCE

Although paragraph 23 of the Regulations requires disclosure of voting outcomes only in relation to the resolutions to approve the annual remuneration report and the remuneration policy, investors would find it helpful for companies to adopt a common approach to the reporting of vote outcomes for all resolutions regarding remuneration at the previous general meeting. This includes resolutions to approve or amend share schemes and other long-term incentive plans or to approve payments outside the remuneration policy, which are not required or regulated by the Regulations, but by other provisions.

While the remuneration policy does not need to be put to a vote every year, paragraph 23 of the Regulations is worded in such a way as to require each annual remuneration report to continue to include the voting outcome for the most recently voted upon remuneration policy – even if that voting outcome appeared in the previous year's annual remuneration report.

The Regulations only require the percentage of votes cast for and against to be disclosed, along with the number of withheld votes. However, to ensure the data is

¹⁶ Note that provision 4 of the 2018 Code uses 20% of votes cast against the board recommendation as the threshold for when certain steps (including consulting and reporting back in the annual report) should be taken.

comparable, investors would find it helpful if the number of votes cast for and against the resolutions was also disclosed.

Example following approval at an annual general meeting

At the Annual General Meeting held on [DATE], votes cast by proxy and the meeting in respect of the directors' remuneration were as follows:

Resolution text	Votes for	%	Votes against	% against	Total votes cast	Votes withheld (abstentions)
Approval of the remuneration report	XXX	XX%	XXX	XX%	XXX	XXX
Approval of the remuneration policy						
To adopt the long-term incentive scheme (where applicable)						

Where there is a significant percentage of votes against either of the remuneration resolutions (at the last general meeting of the reported year), the company must disclose the reasons for this (if known) in the annual remuneration report presented in the current year and describe any actions taken to address investor concerns. Where the reasons for the vote against are not known an explanation of what steps the directors have taken to find out such reasons should be disclosed.

Where a company has experienced a significant vote against one of the remuneration resolutions in a previous year and where amendments made to address shareholder concerns have resulted in shareholder support for the same resolution at the next general meeting, a company may wish to report this in their remuneration report to highlight that the company's directors have identified and addressed shareholder concerns.

Companies will need to use their judgement, regarding the level of votes against, that they consider to be "significant". Although each resolution will be passed if votes in favour exceed 50% of those cast, a significant number of votes against indicates investor dissatisfaction. It is in the company's interest to explain and address a low level of support, so as to avoid lower votes in favour in future years. As a guideline, companies may wish to consider votes against of 20% or more as being significant, although there may be reasons why, for some companies, a higher or lower level might be more appropriate.¹⁷

Although "votes withheld" (abstentions) are not votes in law, many investors withhold their vote to indicate their lack of support for management. Companies may therefore wish to consider viewing votes withheld (or in combination with votes against) of 20% or more as also indicating a low level of support from investors that they would wish to address, although this again will depend on the company concerned.

Companies may wish to consider disclosing in the annual remuneration report the level of votes against that they deem to be "significant".

Where the board considered the outcome to be a "significant" vote against, or otherwise showing a significant lack of support for the resolution that they plan to address, the company may also wish to consider including a statement to that effect in the RIS announcement relating to the results of the AGM.

¹⁷ Note that provision 4 of the 2018 Code uses 20% of votes cast against the board recommendation as the threshold for when certain steps (including consulting and reporting back in the annual report) should be taken.

4. DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION POLICY (PART 4 OF THE REGULATIONS)

4.1 STATUTORY REGIME

4.1.1 RESTRICTIONS ON REMUNERATION AND LOSS OF OFFICE PAYMENTS

REQUIREMENT (SECTION 226A – D OF THE COMPANIES ACT 2006 AND SECTION 82 OF THE ENTERPRISE AND REGULATORY REFORM ACT 2013)

Under the statutory regime, a company may only make a remuneration payment or payment for loss of office to directors which is consistent with the most recently approved remuneration policy (sections 226B(1)(a), 226C(1)(a), Companies Act 2006). Where a company seeks to make a payment outside its remuneration policy prior shareholder approval is required to amend the policy by ordinary resolution along with a memorandum setting out the particulars of the proposed payment (including the amount and the ways in which the payment would be inconsistent with policy but for the amendment). This must be made available for inspection for at least 15 days before and at the meeting (sections 226B(1) (b), 226C(1)(b) and 226D, Companies Act 2006).

These restrictions do not apply to a remuneration payment or payment for loss of office which is required to be made pursuant to an agreement entered into before 27 June 2012, unless it was modified or renewed on or after that date or as a consequence of any other obligation arising before that date (section 82(3) – (4), Enterprise and Regulatory Reform Act 2013).

These restrictions apply from the earlier of the end of the first financial year of the company to begin on or after 1 October 2013, in the case of a company that is a quoted company immediately before 1 October 2013, or otherwise on or after the day on which it becomes a quoted company and the date from which the company's first remuneration policy takes effect (section 226D(6), Companies Act 2006 and section 82(2), Enterprise and Regulatory Reform Act 2013).

GUIDANCE

Although the government specifically grandfathered payments to be made pursuant to an agreement entered into before 27 June 2012, companies will also want to ensure that the following promises can be honoured.

Commitments made before new policy came into effect. Companies may need to be in a position to make firm commitments to executives which cannot be defeated by later changes in remuneration policy. Accordingly, companies may wish to make clear in a new policy that any commitments made which were consistent with the approved remuneration policy in force at the time can be honoured, even if they would not otherwise be consistent with the policy prevailing when the commitment is fulfilled.

Commitments made before the restrictions were applicable. The same point applies to commitments made before the current legislation on remuneration policies came into force and commitments made before an individual became a director or before the company became a quoted company. Investors are likely to find this acceptable in straightforward cases, especially regarding promises that were consistent with the approved policy when made. In less straightforward cases, companies may wish to consider providing additional information when presenting a policy with provisions of this kind, and perhaps consulting investors about it before presentation, particularly if any relevant commitments are for payments which investors find, or may find, unacceptable.

Interaction with future policy table. Although companies may wish to include precautionary grandfathering statements to deal with both of the circumstances described above, they must still disclose any arrangements under which remuneration may be paid in the future policy table (see 4.3: Future policy table). Unvested or

unexercised long-term incentives are probably the prior commitments that will most often require both protection by a general grandfathering provision and description in the future policy table.

4.1.2 STRUCTURE AND SIGNIFICANCE OF THE REMUNERATION POLICY

The Regulations require the remuneration report to include a remuneration policy containing details of the components of the remuneration packages of the company's directors. The remuneration policy is forward-looking and must be approved by investors by an ordinary resolution at least every three years, or sooner in the event of revisions to the remuneration policy (or a shareholder vote against approval of the annual remuneration report in certain years), see *Appendix 1: Approval of remuneration policy* and *Appendix 2: Timing of accounts or general meetings to approve remuneration policy*. It is important to note that the policy sets legally binding boundaries on what may legitimately be paid to directors.

The remuneration policy must set out the policy of the company with respect to the making of remuneration payments and payments for loss of office (section 422A, Companies Act 2006). "Remuneration payments" is defined as any form of payment or other benefit made to or otherwise conferred on a person as consideration for that person holding, agreeing to hold or having held office as a director (section 226A, Companies Act 2006).

The remuneration policy must include a table dealing with specified aspects of the company's future policy. Other details of remuneration policy must also be included in the remuneration policy although not in the future policy table. The Regulations do not specify a particular format for these additional disclosures.

When preparing the remuneration policy, companies may wish to consider:

- Embracing the overriding principle of transparency.
- Drafting a remuneration policy which is broad and flexible enough to allow companies to respond to changed circumstances without needing to amend the policy (see 1.3: Flexibility, discretion and judgement).
- Providing sufficient detail (succinctly if possible) to enable investors to understand
 what will be paid in different circumstances and for what levels of performance and
 thereby enabling them to evaluate the remuneration policy and to assess whether
 actual payments are within the remuneration policy.

4.2 INTRODUCTORY

REQUIREMENT (PARAGRAPH 24 OF THE REGULATIONS)

The information required by Part 4 of the Regulations must be set out in a separate part of the remuneration report and constitutes the remuneration policy of the company.

The directors' remuneration policy must explain the decision-making process followed for its determination, review and implementation, including measures to avoid or manage conflicts of interest and, where applicable, the role of the remuneration committee or other committees concerned except that this explanation need not include information that is elsewhere in the directors' remuneration report.

Where some or all of the provisions of the last approved remuneration policy are to continue to apply, this fact must be stated in the remuneration policy together with details of the period it is intended they shall apply.

Where any provision of the remuneration policy provides for the exercise by the directors of discretion, the policy must set out the extent of that discretion.

A company's first remuneration policy presented for approval after 1 October 2013 must set out the date it is intended by the company to take effect.

GUIDANCE

Timing. There is some flexibility as to when companies may choose that the first remuneration policy takes effect under the Companies Act 2006 and the Regulations. While this is now an historical matter for most companies, it remains an issue for newly quoted companies.

First year. By way of illustration, the remuneration policy for a newly quoted company may specify that it takes effect from:

Date	Example: company with a 31 December year-end
The general meeting (usually the AGM) or any specified later date within the current year	[x] April 2019
The start of the following financial year	1 January 2020

Investors are generally in favour of the remuneration policy starting immediately following approval at the general meeting (which will usually be the AGM). This will provide certainty for directors and will enable meaningful engagement between companies and their investors.

In deciding the date from which the first remuneration policy will take effect, the remuneration committee may wish to consider taking into account the following:

- The statutory restrictions on making a remuneration payment or payment for loss of office (see 4.1.1: Restrictions on remuneration and loss of office payments) will apply from the end of the first financial year beginning on or after the day on which the company becomes a quoted company or the date the approved remuneration policy "takes effect" if earlier, meaning the date when the company states (within the remuneration policy) that it shall take effect. However, a remuneration policy cannot take effect earlier than the date of approval. It must not be specified to take effect later than the end of the company's first financial year to begin on or after 1 October 2013, in the case of a company that is a quoted company immediately before 1 October 2013, or otherwise on or after the day on which it becomes a quoted company.
- That performance periods for short-term and long-term incentive performance
 measures and targets do not have to align with the date the remuneration policy
 takes effect. Usually these periods will relate to whole financial years (although
 there is some diversity between companies), but the awards will vest or be paid only
 after the effective date of an approved remuneration policy with which they comply.

Subsequent years. The remuneration policy will commence from the date it is approved unless it is stated that all provisions of the last remuneration policy will apply until a specified time:

Date	Example: company with a 31 December year-end
The general meeting (usually the AGM)	[x] April 2022
The start of the following financial year (specify in the new policy that the last approved remuneration policy will apply until this date)	1 January 2023

It is generally expected that companies will put forward their remuneration policy for approval every three years, unless the company needs to change the policy, or fails to obtain approval of the annual remuneration report, and therefore puts forward an amended policy for approval before the end of the three-year period. Investors would generally not find it helpful if companies put forward their policy for approval annually as a matter of standard practice. If a company wishes to put forward a new policy to shareholders mid-cycle, investors generally expect a coherent rationale as to the reasons for doing so.

In deciding the date from which future remuneration policies will take effect, the remuneration committee may wish to take into account the following considerations:

- As stated above, investors are generally in favour of the remuneration policy starting immediately following approval at the general meeting.
- Any actual payments made must be consistent with the approved remuneration
 policy at the time they are made. (However, it is open to companies to provide in
 their policies that awards granted under arrangements consistent with an earlier
 policy may vest or be paid. For more on this possibility, see 4.1.1: Restrictions on
 remuneration and loss of office payments).
- If the new remuneration policy does not take effect immediately after the general
 meeting at which it is approved, the new remuneration policy must specify that the
 last approved remuneration policy will continue to apply and the period of time
 it is intended it will apply for. In effect, this makes the old remuneration policy
 temporarily part of the new approved remuneration policy for the purposes of
 restrictions on payments.

Conflicts of interest. Measures to avoid or manage conflicts of interest in the determination, review and implementation of the remuneration policy must be disclosed in the policy. Examples may include procedures surrounding executive attendance at remuneration committee meetings and ensuring external advice received by the committee is independent.

4.3 FUTURE POLICY TABLE

REQUIREMENT (PARAGRAPHS 25-26 OF THE REGULATIONS)

The remuneration policy must contain in tabular form a description of each of the components of the remuneration package for the directors of the company. Where the provisions apply generally to all directors, the table must also include any particular arrangements which are specific to any individual director.

In respect of each of the components described in the table, there must be set out:

- How that component supports the short and long-term strategic objectives of the company.
- An explanation of how that component of the remuneration package operates and information on any deferral periods.
- Where the company awards share-based remuneration, information on any vesting periods and any holding periods.
- The maximum that may be paid in respect of that component.
- A description of the framework used to assess performance (where applicable) including:
 - a description of the performance measures used and the weighting of them where several apply;
 - · details of any performance period; and
 - amounts that may be paid in respect of the minimum level of performance and in respect of any further specified levels of performance.
- An explanation as to whether there are any provisions for the recovery of sums paid or the withholding of any payment.

GUIDANCE

The Regulations do not set out a prescribed format for the table, other than expecting it to include at least the components required to be included in the single total figure table in the annual remuneration report. While paragraphs 25 and 26 of the Regulations are drafted simply in terms of directors, paragraph 28 of the Regulations allows separate versions of the future policy table for executive and non-executive directors (see 4.5: Non-executive directors).

For most companies the typical components of pay for executive directors will be salary, benefits, pension and short-term and long-term incentive awards. Each must be separately set out in the future policy table. These main components of pay will usually be the same for all executive directors. Companies with differing levels of benefits or short-term or long-term incentives for different executive directors will need, however, to ensure that the variations are properly described.

This table will form part of the remuneration policy. Companies may therefore wish to consider any exceptional items that they do not currently pay or provide but anticipate they might need to provide during the life of the remuneration policy.

The table must also specify the "maximum" that may be paid in respect of each component, including salary, which may be expressed in monetary terms or otherwise.

There has been uncertainty at some companies as to whether the maximum has to be disclosed at an individual executive director level. Although the Regulations do not state expressly that the maximum should be disclosed at an individual level, they state that "the table must also include any particular arrangements which are specific to any director individually" (see *paragraph 25(2)* of the Regulations). Accordingly, the maximum level of each component of remuneration should be disclosed for each executive director.

Companies may wish to consider including a generic director policy should it be perceived that a new director role could be created during a policy period.

It is accepted that it may be difficult for companies to set a maximum for the remuneration policy period. Companies will need to clearly explain the "expected" maximum (normal course) but may also wish to consider building in sufficient flexibility/headroom and also disclosing an "exceptional" maximum. Investors accept that companies may need this flexibility to cover the expected three-year life of a remuneration policy and to take account of changes in the company's strategy or a director's role and responsibility.

The table must set out how each component supports the company's short-term and long-term strategic objectives. For discussion on the importance attributed to linking remuneration to a company's strategy, see 2.2: Annual statement.

Companies may wish to consider the following points in respect of each component:

4.3.1 SALARY

- There is a requirement to disclose the maximum that might be paid. The maximum must be explained in monetary terms or in any other way appropriate to the company (for example, a percentage of salary).
- Companies should describe the factors that the remuneration committee will
 consider when determining the level of salary to be paid on an annual basis,
 explaining how the basis on which pay is determined supports the company's
 strategic objectives.
- Companies with overseas directors may pay salaries in different currencies, which
 will need to be clearly explained. Whilst it might be considered helpful to convert
 to a common currency, companies and investors need to be aware that currency
 fluctuations may result in anomalies, which companies may wish to explain clearly.
 If different currencies are used, it may also be important to set out maxima in all
 relevant currencies and not only one currency.

4.3.2 BENEFITS

- Companies must give a broad description of the type of benefits that will be
 provided to directors and how these benefits support the company's strategy.
 This description needs to be broad enough to encompass all benefits that might
 be offered to directors during the course of the remuneration policy period and
 this may well include benefits not currently being paid.
- Precise benefits will vary from company to company and even for directors in the same company depending on various factors such as their country of residence, local practices and length of service with the company.
- In determining the maximum amount of benefits, companies may wish to consider factors which may cause these amounts to fluctuate considerably such as:
 - The cost of certain benefits such as healthcare cover can vary dramatically from country to country and year to year due to a change in family status of the director, his or her age, medical inflation or a change in the service provider used by the employing company. Companies would be prudent to consider this when setting the maximum for healthcare costs, particularly if directors move between countries where different or more expensive healthcare benefits are the usual local practice for employees.

- Relocation and expatriate or international assignment costs can be very high
 and may encompass a number of elements including: removal costs, tax
 equalisation arrangements, house purchase or rental, children's education and
 relocation of family. At the beginning of a remuneration policy period, companies
 may not necessarily know their plans regarding director relocation for the next
 three years, as that will depend on emerging business requirements.
- Companies may wish to separate benefits payable to a director on an ongoing basis and benefits that might become payable as a result of new business requirements such as relocation.

4.3.3 PENSION

- Companies must give a clear explanation of pension-related benefits, including the approach taken to making payments in lieu of retirement benefits or defined benefit arrangements.
- Companies may wish to disclose anticipated changes to defined benefit
 pension arrangements where there is likely to be a material difference from the
 arrangements disclosed in the annual remuneration report. These might include,
 but are not limited to:
 - The discretionary augmentation of benefits over and above the normal entitlement, indicating whether or not such augmentation requires the consent of the scheme's trustees.
 - Changes in contribution rates in respect of a defined benefit arrangement beyond those set out in the periodic schedule of contributions certified by the scheme actuary.
 - The closure, or proposed closure, of a defined benefit arrangement to future accrual.

4.3.4 SHORT-TERM AND LONG-TERM INCENTIVES

The Regulations do not make a distinction between short-term and long-term incentive arrangements in the provisions relating to policy (except to the extent that these require the same components to be addressed as in the single total figure table, as the provisions relating to the annual remuneration report do treat short- and long-term incentives separately). The split between short-term and long-term incentives (discussed further below) is a common approach adopted by companies but some companies may have different components in their remuneration packages that do not necessarily fall into these categories. For a discussion of a similar issue arising for the annual remuneration report, see *Deferred short-term and long-term incentives in 3.1: Single total figure of remuneration*).

The Regulations make it clear that information in respect of performance measures or targets that, in the opinion of the directors, is commercially sensitive in respect of the company does not need to be disclosed (see *Commercially sensitive performance measures or targets in 2.1: Introductory*).

If a short-term or long-term incentive includes a requirement for shares to be retained after vesting (with an allowance for share disposals to fund any exercise price and/or tax arising), at least until a specified shareholding is built up and retained, investors generally expect that to be disclosed in the "how the component [i.e. the short-term and/or long-term incentive component] of the remuneration package operates" part of the future policy table. Investors also generally expect it to be appropriately cross-referenced or otherwise disclosed again in the shareholding requirements section of the report. See 3.6: Statement of directors' shareholding and share interests.

SHORT-TERM INCENTIVES

- Companies must describe how the short-term incentive supports the objectives
 of the company and explain how the plan operates. If the company operates more
 than one plan for directors, companies must separate out the different plans.
- The maximum amount of the short-term incentive that might be earned must be
 disclosed as well as the amounts that could be paid for reaching certain thresholds
 or targets. The maximum amount should include any deferred elements if these are
 part of the structure. The Regulations have been drafted to enable companies to use
 their own terminology for the minimum and maximum levels of performance. These
 amounts may be expressed as salary multiples or fixed monetary amounts or any
 other way that might be appropriate for the company.
- An explanation must be given of the performance measures which will apply. In the
 case of annual plans, the performance measures may change over the remuneration
 policy period to align with the annual strategy of the company. Therefore,
 companies may choose to describe performance measures in broad terms, for
 example, grouping performance measures into financial and business measures
 and personal goals or objectives, where appropriate, and include an indication of
 the weightings for each of these measures or groups of measures; these may be
 expressed as a range.
- Investors will wish to understand the performance measures used and will expect them to align with the overall corporate strategy. Where performance measures are disclosed in broad terms in the future policy table, full details for the current year must be given in the annual remuneration report (see 3.11: Statement of implementation of remuneration policy in the current financial year).
- There is no requirement to disclose performance targets in the future policy table. However, details must be disclosed in the annual remuneration report (see 3.11: Statement of implementation of remuneration policy in the current financial year).
- The performance period for the short-term incentive will generally be one year.
 Companies must, however, describe any arrangements for the deferral of all or part of the short-term incentive. The period of deferral, together with any further conditions (such as vesting schedule and/or holding periods for share-based elements), must be explained, as well as whether the deferred element is payable in cash or in shares and if any matching award may be made when deferral ends.
- An explanation must be given as to any provisions for recovery of sums paid, or withholding of any current year payment, in the short-term incentive plan, including how and when they will be applied.

LONG-TERM INCENTIVES

- Companies must describe how any long-term incentive plan for directors supports
 the objectives of the company and explain how the plan operates. If the company
 operates more than one plan for directors, companies must separate out the
 different plans.
- Even though almost all new long-term incentive plans in which directors can participate, and any substantial amendment to an existing plan, must currently be separately approved by shareholders under the Listing Rules, that approval will not amend the remuneration policy. It is anticipated that a new remuneration policy will be proposed when a company proposes a new plan or amends an existing plan, if the new plan or amendment conflicts with the current approved policy. Companies must also check when they change the remuneration policy that any long-term incentive plan awards made under a previous remuneration policy, and under which payments are still intended to be made, can be paid out under the new remuneration policy.

- The maximum amount of long-term awards that might be earned for stretch
 performance must be disclosed as well as the amounts that could be paid for
 threshold or target performance. The Regulations have been drafted widely to
 enable companies to use their own terminology for the minimum and maximum
 levels of performance and these amounts may be expressed as salary multiples
 or fixed monetary amounts, fixed number of shares or in any other way that might
 be appropriate for the company.
- Most long-term awards will be in the form of shares, rights to shares or options and
 the nature of the award must be made clear. Where phantom shares or long-term
 cash plans exist, these must also be included in the long-term incentive awards
 section of the table.
- An explanation must be given of the performance measures and groups of
 performance measures that will apply, including an indication of the weightings
 of each performance measure or group of measures; these may be expressed as a
 range. More detail on the performance measures which will apply to awards made
 during the life of the remuneration policy must be provided. If a company wishes to
 significantly change these performance measures, it will need to seek approval of a
 revised remuneration policy. If a company has reserved discretion to make nonsignificant changes, it will be able to do so, but may wish to consider consulting
 with investors.
- There is no requirement to disclose performance targets in the future policy table but if they are not, full details for the current year must be disclosed in the annual remuneration report (see 3.11: Statement of implementation of remuneration policy in the current financial year).
- Companies must disclose the vesting period, performance period and any additional holding period after vesting; differentiating between holding periods post vesting and post employment.
- An explanation must be given as to any provisions for the recovery of sums paid, or the withholding of any current year payment, in the long-term incentive plan, including how and when they will be applied.

4.4 NOTES TO THE FUTURE POLICY TABLE

REQUIREMENT (PARAGRAPH 27 OF THE REGULATIONS)

The future policy table must be accompanied by notes which set out in respect of each component:

- An explanation of why the performance measures were chosen and how performance targets are set.
- An explanation of why there are no performance measures relating to any component other than fixed elements.
- An explanation of the reasons for any new component or any changes to existing components relative to the previous policy.
- An explanation of the differences between the remuneration policy for directors and for employees generally.

GUIDANCE

The Regulations recognise that it is not possible to include every detail in a table and therefore the following additional information must be provided in the explanatory notes to the table.

Performance targets. The notes must explain how performance targets are set. Companies should note that they are not required to disclose specific performance targets in the future policy table, but just explain how they would be determined. If not in the policy, the performance targets for the current year must be disclosed in the annual remuneration report, unless non-disclosure is justified on the basis that the targets are commercially sensitive (see 3.11: Statement of implementation of remuneration policy in the current financial year and 2.1: Commercially sensitive performance argets' in 2.1: Introductory).

Changes. Companies must also explain any changes from the previously approved remuneration policy, particularly any new elements, for example, a new share plan or any changes to a remuneration component (such as, a change to the performance measures applying to a particular plan). Explanations as to the reasons for the change should also be given. Companies may also wish to consider referring to the overall changes in the committee chairman's introductory statement, see *2.2: Annual statement*.

4.5 NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

REQUIREMENT (PARAGRAPH 28 OF THE REGULATIONS)

Information in respect of directors not performing an executive function may be set out in a separate table explaining the approach of the company to the determination of fees payable to such directors, any additional fees paid for other duties to the company and such other items as are to be considered in the nature of remuneration.

GUIDANCE

Companies may wish to disclose non-executive directors' remuneration in a separate table as typically they will receive fees for their services and will not participate in the incentive arrangements applying to executive directors.

Companies with executive chairmen will need to include details of the executive chairman's remuneration in the table for executive directors.

The table for non-executive directors will form part of the remuneration policy and therefore no other remuneration may be provided to non-executive directors which is not included in the future policy table.

The Regulations require companies to disclose "the approach of the company" towards the determination of the non-executive directors' fees. This may include fees as a non-executive director, additional fees for acting as senior independent director, chairman or member of a committee, travel and attendance fees and, where relevant, consultancy fees. Legitimate business expenses are not remuneration and therefore are not required to be disclosed.

Companies may wish to consider disclosing whether part of the fees is paid in shares instead of cash, and if there is any requirement to retain the shares.

4.6 APPROACH TO RECRUITMENT REMUNERATION

REQUIREMENT (PARAGRAPH 29 OF THE REGULATIONS)

The remuneration policy must contain a statement of the principles which the company would apply to agreeing a remuneration package for a new director. The statement must set out the various components which would be considered by the company for inclusion in that package and the approach of the company to each element and the maximum level of variable remuneration (excluding compensation for variable remuneration lost on leaving a former employer) which may be awarded, expressed in monetary terms or otherwise.

GUIDANCE

These requirements apply to all board members, not just executive directors. They also apply to internal appointments to director, not just external hires.

Statement of principles. The Regulations refer to a statement of principles. Companies must set out the principles and the parameters which the remuneration committee will apply but be mindful that too much detail could raise expectations of potential directors and so weaken the company's ability to negotiate appropriate terms. Companies may wish to cross-refer to the future policy table, which describes each component of remuneration for the directors of the company and which will be applicable to new directors recruited within the life of the approved remuneration policy. Issues that companies may wish to consider when drafting this statement include:

- Companies are required to disclose the maximum level of variable pay that may be
 granted to a newly-appointed director. This may be expressed in monetary terms
 or otherwise, for example a multiple of salary. Companies may wish to consider a
 statement that new directors will participate in short-term and long-term incentive
 plans on the same basis as existing directors, which should suffice in most cases.
 Companies which operate different plans or multiples for different directors will
 need to take care that they explain this clearly in the remuneration policy.
- Companies may wish to consider committing in the remuneration policy to timely
 disclosure on the remuneration structure of any new executive director or chairman.
 It is recommended that such disclosure be included in the relevant RIS notification.
- If relevant, companies must disclose the principles around relocation policies and any other benefits.

Sign-on payments. If companies wish to have the ability to make sign-on payments, they must ensure the remuneration policy covers such payments. If the remuneration policy is silent on sign-on payments, companies will not be able to make a sign-on payment to a future executive director without having first obtained shareholder approval. In practical terms, it will be difficult to convene a general meeting to approve such a payment while still in negotiations with a potential executive director regarding their remuneration.

When describing their sign-on policies, companies must disclose the type of awards (for example, cash or shares) that could be made, the potential use of performance criteria and holding periods, and any application of recovery or withholding policies. They may wish to consider disclosing:

- Whether their policy is to compensate an executive director for amounts lost at a previous employer or to pay a so-called "golden hello".
- A commitment to provide a full explanation at the time of recruitment of why a signon payment was required and a breakdown of that payment and an explanation of the approach taken to determine a fair level of compensation.

Compensation for the amounts forfeited for variable remuneration arrangements by an incoming executive. These amounts are not subject to the maximum set by the recruitment policy and will vary depending on the plans and arrangements in place at the previous employer. Investors generally expect the policy to make clear whether and how the maxima set out in the future policy table apply to such payments (see 4.3: Future policy table).

Internal promotion. If a company is considering the promotion of senior management to the board, it may wish to make clear in its remuneration policy that any commitments made before promotion can continue to be honoured under the policy even if they would not otherwise be consistent with the policy prevailing when the commitment is fulfilled (see *also 4.1.1: Restrictions on remuneration and loss of office payments*). If not, it will be necessary for the new director to give up, or amend, the inconsistent element of their remuneration before being promoted.

4.7 SERVICE CONTRACTS

REQUIREMENT (PARAGRAPHS 30-32 OF THE REGULATIONS)

The remuneration policy must contain a description of any obligation on the company that is, or is proposed to be, contained in all (or one or more) directors' service contracts, and that could give rise to remuneration or loss of office payments not disclosed elsewhere in the remuneration policy. This requirement applies equally to letters of appointment. The policy must also contain an indication of the duration of directors' service contracts or arrangements.

GUIDANCE

Companies must disclose any obligation on the company which could give rise to a remuneration or loss of office payment, which is not disclosed in the remuneration policy. Although the Regulations refer to such obligations being contained in service contracts and letters of appointment, this should be interpreted widely as referring to the whole contract between the director and the company as it stands at the time, and not just the provisions of a single, original document for example, the "contract" or "letter" includes any obligations set out in side letters, and any changes made by later notices, agreements or letters whether in writing or orally.

For many companies, this requirement will be satisfied by disclosures made elsewhere in the remuneration policy. In such circumstances, companies may wish to consider confirming that there are no further obligations which could give rise to a remuneration or loss of office payment in the service contracts and/or letters of appointment.

SRD II introduced a requirement to include an indication of the duration of directors' service contracts or arrangements. Companies should state the term length of directors' contracts (should they be fixed term) or state if no fixed term exists – the latter being recognised as common employment practice in the UK.

4.8 ILLUSTRATIONS OF THE APPLICATION OF THE REMUNERATION POLICY

REQUIREMENT (PARAGRAPHS 33-35 OF THE REGULATIONS)

The remuneration policy must set out in the form of a bar chart and in respect of each director (other than non-executive directors) an indication of what could be received under the policy. The bar chart should include three bars showing the following:

- The minimum remuneration receivable (paragraph 34(1)(a) of the Regulations);
- The remuneration receivable if the director performs in line with the company's expectation (paragraph 34(1)(b) of the Regulations); and
- The maximum remuneration receivable (paragraph 34(1)(c) of the Regulations).

A narrative description of the basis of calculation and assumptions used to compile the bar chart must be set out to enable an understanding of the charts presented, but the narrative description does not need to include any matter which has been set out in the future policy table.

The directors' remuneration report must also set out, for long-term incentives, an indication of the maximum remuneration receivable assuming share price appreciation of 50% during the performance period.

GUIDANCE

The Regulations do not mandate the measurement basis for the components of the bar chart, however the Financial Reporting Lab did extensive work on the preferred approach of investors and companies and this is reflected in the guidance below. See

the Financial Reporting Lab's project report, Reporting of Pay and Performance dated March 2013¹⁸.

Each bar of the chart must contain separate parts which represent the following (to the extent that they are applicable in the scenario under consideration):

- Salary, fees, benefits, pension and any other "fixed" remuneration.
- Remuneration where performance measures or targets relate to one financial year (for example, annual bonus).
- Remuneration where performance measures or targets relate to more than one financial year (for example, long-term incentives).

Salary. This should be the last confirmed salary. This may be the same figure as the salary in the single total figure table, but if there has been a confirmed change to the salary the most current figure should be used.

Benefits. This should be the last known figure as set out in the single total figure table excluding any non-recurring items.

Pension. The preferred approach depends on the type of pension entitlement:

- Defined benefit. The amount as set out in the single total figure table.
- Other (for example defined contribution or cash in lieu). It would be consistent for the amount to be based on the policy set out in the future policy table and the last confirmed salary. This may be different to the pension amount in the single total figure table, for example where there has recently been a salary increase or a change to the defined contribution percentage.

Short-term incentives. The amount should be based on the policy set out in the future policy table and the last confirmed salary. For example, if the future policy table refers to a target opportunity of 50% of salary and a maximum opportunity of 100% of salary, with half delivered in cash and half delivered in deferred shares, and the last confirmed salary is £500,000, the amounts to include in respect of this element in each bar would be:

- Bar showing minimum receivable (paragraph 34(1)(a)): nil.
- Bar showing remuneration receivable for performing in line with the company's expectation (paragraph 34(1)(b)): £250,000.
- Bar showing maximum remuneration receivable (paragraph 34(1)(c)): £500,000. In substance the deferred share component is valued at face value but there is no need to value the shares because the calculation is based on a percentage of salary.

The bars showing remuneration for in line performance and maximum remuneration receivable must take account of all relevant plan features. For example, if the bonus plan provides for the award of additional "matching shares" if an executive voluntarily invests a portion of their cash bonus in deferred shares, the additional matching shares must be included in those two bars. In other words, those two bars should show what would be receivable assuming the executive makes all elections that can increase the size of the award¹⁹.

Long-term incentives. The preferred approach depends on how the company makes long-term incentive awards:

Awards based on a percentage or multiple of salary. It would be consistent for the
amount included in the bar charts to be based on the policy set out in the future
policy table and the last confirmed salary. For example, if the future policy table
refers to an award of performance shares worth 100% of salary (face value), and the

¹⁸ The Financial Reporting Lab's project report, Reporting of Pay and Performance, available at: https://www.frc.org.uk/getattachment/fe61b54b-a19f-4b08-8566-897fff4587e7/FRC-Lab-Reporting-of-pay-and-performance.pdf.

¹⁹ If the matching shares are subject to performance measures they may need to be shown in the long-term incentive part of each bar, rather than the annual bonus part. See discussion in 3.1: Single total figure of remuneration.

- last confirmed salary is £500,000, the amounts to include in respect of this element in each bar would be:
 - Bar showing minimum receivable (paragraph 34(1)(a)): nil.
 - Bar showing remuneration receivable for performing in line with the company's expectation (paragraph 34(1)(b)): The value based on what the company judges to be the percentage level of vesting that correlates to "performing in line with the company's expectation". This may, for example, align with the level of vesting at threshold performance.
 - Bar showing maximum remuneration receivable (paragraph 34(1)(c)): £500,000.

In substance the share award is valued at face value, but there is no need to value the shares because the calculation is based on a percentage of salary.

If the company's practice is to specify award sizes as a percentage of salary using "expected value" or "fair value", it will be necessary to translate the award size into an equivalent face value. For example, if the company's policy is to make an award worth 100% of salary on an expected value basis, and the expected value of a performance share is 33% of face value, the bar showing maximum remuneration receivable would include a value of 300% of salary for the long-term incentive part of the bar.

The bar showing maximum remuneration receivable must take account of all relevant plan features. For example, if the plan provides for a "target award" worth 100% of salary and a "maximum vesting" of 200% of salary, the bar showing maximum remuneration receivable would include a value of 200% of salary for the long-term incentive part of the bar.

In some cases, a plan sets a maximum award size that is larger than the awards customarily made. For example, where the theoretical maximum under the plan rules is 300% of salary but actual awards for the past four years have been 200% of salary and the "statement of implementation of remuneration policy in the current financial year" stipulates that the award in the first year of the policy will be 200% of salary. In this situation, given that paragraph 33 of the Regulations requires the bar chart to show remuneration receivable in accordance with the policy "in the first year to which the policy applies", the bar showing maximum remuneration receivable must be based on 200% of salary. Companies may wish to consider including a narrative description which refers to the plan maximum where that is higher than the award size factored into the bar charts.

- Awards based on a fixed number of shares. The amount to include in the bar
 charts must be based on the face value of the shares, with no allowance for
 potential share price appreciation over the course of the vesting period (although
 this must be disclosed separately, see 'Impact of share price appreciation' below).
 - The "maximum" bar must include the full face value, and the "in line" bar must include the value based on what the company judges to be the percentage level of vesting that correlates to "performing in line with the company's expectation". As indicated above, this may align with the level of vesting at threshold performance.
 - The share price to factor into the valuation could be either a spot price from a date close to the date for finalising the remuneration report, or an average share price. If an average share price is used an explanation should be given of the period over which the average was taken and why that approach has been adopted. (The Regulations do not state this expressly, but do require a "description of the basis of calculation and assumptions used ... to enable an understanding of the charts".)
- **Options** (market exercise price options as opposed to nil-price options). The preferred approach depends on how the company makes option awards.

The following examples cover two possible option award approaches that companies may use:

If awards are made as options over shares worth a percentage or multiple of salary, it would be consistent for the amount included in the bar charts to be based on the policy set out in the future policy table, the last confirmed salary, and an appropriate option valuation method, with an explanation of the valuation method. The valuation method must not take account of performance hurdles, if any exist, as these will be reflected in the minimum, in line and maximum bars. In other words, if the company's policy is "A long-term incentive award will be granted in market priced options with a face value equal to 200% of salary" and the option valuation method shows the value of a market-priced option as 30% of the share price, then the company would use (200% of salary) x 30% in the long-term incentive part of the "maximum" bar, and (200% of salary) x 30% x (appropriate percentage based on company's view of what "performing in line with the company's expectation" correlates to) in the "in line" bar (as the face value is the value of the shares under option, taking no account of the exercise price).

As regards an appropriate valuation method, the Financial Reporting Lab recommended use of a rule of thumb established by common practice, with "one-third of the market value of the shares under option" being the Lab's "initial suggestion". See the *Financial Reporting Lab's report, Reporting of Pay and Performance dated, March 2013.*²⁰

• If awards are made as a fixed number of shares under option, it would be consistent for the amount included in the bar charts to be based on (a) the number of shares under option; and (b) an appropriate option valuation method, with an explanation of the valuation method (see the bullet point above). The valuation method must not take account of performance hurdles, if any exist, as these will be reflected in the minimum, in line and maximum bars. For example, if the company awards options over 200,000 shares, the spot share price on a date shortly before the date for finalising the remuneration report is £1.00, and the option valuation method shows the value of a market-priced option as 30% of the share price, the amount to include in the "maximum" bar would be £60,000.

Any dividend accrual, "dividend shares", dividend equivalent payments or similar provided for in the long-term incentive plan or the short-term incentive plan, or both, should be disregarded for the purposes of the bar charts, for clarity, but their existence and exclusion must then be explained in the description of the calculation and assumptions used.

Impact of share price appreciation. Under the 2018 amendments to the Regulations, companies must disclose, in respect of each executive director, for long-term incentives and other awards with performance measured over more than one year, an indication of the maximum remuneration receivable assuming share price appreciation of 50% during the performance period. Companies must also provide a short description of the basis of the calculation of the share price appreciation (see *paragraph 35A of the Regulations*).

The origin of this provision is the government's response to the 2016 Corporate Governance Reform Green Paper: "Part of the challenge that the green paper consultation has highlighted is the risk of LTIPs leading to executive share awards that are inconsistent with investors' original expectations. The government therefore accepts the arguments of a number of investors and other respondents that companies' executive remuneration policies should be required to set out more clearly the potential remuneration outcomes of LTIPs under a range of scenarios, including significant share price growth."²¹

²⁰ The Financial Reporting Lab's project report, Reporting of Pay and Performance, available at: https://www.frc.org.uk/agetattachment/fe61b54b-a19f-4b08-8566-897flf4587e7/FRC-Lab-Reporting-of-pay-and-performance.pdf.

²¹ BEIS, Corporate Governance Reform: The Government Response to the Green Paper Consultation, August 2017, paragraph 1.55.

Paragraph 35A of the Regulations does not require that the information related to share price appreciation be included in the bar chart. It simply says that the share price appreciation information must be included in the directors' remuneration report. However, it appears that the disclosure related to share price appreciation should appear, if not in the bar chart itself, then in the same section of the remuneration report that the bar chart appears, given that paragraph 35A is located in the same section of the Regulations as the bar chart provisions.

Using the example above (see 'Awards based on a percentage or multiple of salary') where the bar chart shows maximum long-term incentive remuneration receivable of £500,000, the maximum remuneration receivable assuming share price appreciation of 50% during the performance period would be an additional £250,000.

A short description of the basis of the calculation of the share price appreciation must be included. This could be as simple as "The basis of the calculation of the share price appreciation is that the share price embedded in the calculation for the 'maximum' bar chart is assumed to increase by 50% across the performance period."

The disclosure required by paragraph 35A of the Regulations must be included in any new remuneration policy introduced on or after 1 January 2019.²²

4.9 POLICY ON PAYMENT FOR LOSS OF OFFICE

REQUIREMENT (PARAGRAPHS 36-37 OF THE REGULATIONS)

The remuneration policy must summarise and explain the company's policy on:

- The setting of notice periods under directors' contracts.
- Termination payments for directors.

The remuneration policy must set out the principles on which a termination payment will be determined including:

- How each element of any termination payment will be calculated.
- Any contractual provisions agreed before 27 June 2012 that could impact on a termination payment (payments under agreements made before that date, and not subsequently amended, are not subject to the requirement to be consistent with approved remuneration policy).
- Whether and how the circumstances under which a director leaves and the director's performance will be taken into account in determining any payment.

GUIDANCE

Companies need to take care when drafting disclosure on future potential exit payments that they retain sufficient flexibility to cover all types of leaver situation as they will be unable to make any termination payment outside the approved remuneration policy.

Investors generally expect companies to provide sufficient information for investors to understand how the various elements of the remuneration package would be treated in different termination situations and the parameters that the remuneration committee will consider. Companies may wish to consider carefully whether the remuneration committee has the power to exercise discretion in this area and, if so, how they will describe this. The remuneration committee can only exercise discretion if it is permitted to do so in the remuneration policy.

Companies must disclose their policies on setting notice periods and their approaches to determining loss of office payments. Companies may wish to consider disclosing:

- That the contractual entitlements of terminated directors will be honoured.
- The length of service contract and notice periods applicable from the company and the director.
- Details of any limitations, parameters, or guarantees applied to severance payments (for example, contractual).
- How the remuneration committee classifies leavers. It would be advisable to make clear that the good and bad leaver scenarios are examples and not a definitive list of scenarios. This will mean that the remuneration policy has the flexibility to cover future termination situations which are similar to, but not exactly the same as, one of the scenarios.
- How the remuneration committee assesses salary, short-term incentives, long-term incentives, pension and other benefits for each category of leaver and any reductions that may apply to these remuneration components in "normal" circumstances.
- · Policies applied in "exceptional" circumstances including change of control.
- Whether there is a policy of requiring mitigation, and a summary of how that policy would work in practice.

4.10 STATEMENT OF CONSIDERATION OF EMPLOYMENT CONDITIONS ELSEWHERE IN THE COMPANY

REQUIREMENT (PARAGRAPHS 38-39 OF THE REGULATIONS)

The remuneration policy must include a statement of how pay and employment conditions of employees generally were taken into account when setting the remuneration policy. It must also set out whether and, if so, how the company has consulted with employees when drawing up the remuneration policy. The statement must set out whether any comparison metrics were taken into account and, if so what they were and how they were taken into account.

GUIDANCE

Employee consultation. If the company has consulted with its employees, it must disclose what steps have been taken to seek employee views. If it has not, this must be stated. The Regulations suggest that a specific statement is required, rather than general statements about employee views being taken into account.

Pay and employment conditions of employees. Companies should state how wider employee pay and conditions were taken into account, including whether or not any remuneration comparison measurements were used. The metrics will differ across companies and the disclosure must set out what metrics were taken into account and how they were used in determining the quantum and structure of directors' remuneration.

4.11 STATEMENT OF CONSIDERATION OF SHAREHOLDER VIEWS

REQUIREMENT (PARAGRAPH 40 OF THE REGULATIONS)

The company must state whether and, if so, how any views expressed by investors in respect of remuneration either at a general meeting or otherwise have been taken into account in the formulation of the remuneration policy.

GUIDANCE

The level of disclosure in this area will vary from company to company and will depend on the extent of engagement that has taken place. Companies may wish to consider including a summary of:

- The actions taken by the company and investors to engage with each other, if at all.
- The broad topics discussed in the engagement process and an indication of investors' reactions.
- Any changes to the remuneration policy, or its implementation, made as a result of the engagement.

5. APPENDIX

1. APPROVAL OF REMUNERATION POLICY

- At the accounts meeting held in the first financial year which begins on or after 1 October 2013 (in the case of a company that is a quoted company immediately before 1 October 2013), or otherwise on or after the day on which it becomes a quoted company (section 439A(1)(a), Companies Act 2006 and section 82(1) Enterprise and Regulatory Reform Act 2013).
- At an accounts or general meeting held no later than the end of the third financial year after the meeting at which a resolution was proposed to approve the remuneration policy (section 439A(1)(b), Companies Act 2006).
- At an accounts meeting if, at the last accounts meeting, the resolution to approve the annual remuneration report was not approved (section 439A(2), Companies Act 2006).

Companies may propose an ordinary resolution to approve the remuneration policy at any accounts or general meeting if they wish to change or revise the remuneration policy.

2. TIMING OF ACCOUNTS OR GENERAL MEETINGS TO APPROVE REMUNERATION POLICY

The table below illustrates when companies must obtain approval of their remuneration policy.

Year-end	Date the company becomes a quoted company	Approximate date of first AGM to propose resolution to approve remuneration policy ²³	Long-stop date for first remuneration policy to be approved, i.e, the date that restrictions on remuneration and loss of office payments commence ²⁴	Approximate date of second AGM or meeting to propose resolution to approve remuneration policy ²⁵
30 September 2018	August 2018	January 2019	1 October 2019	AGM: Jan 2022; or GM: held by 30 September 2022
30 September 2018	November 2018	January 2020	1 October 2020	AGM: Jan 2023; or GM: held by 30 September 2023
31 December 2018	November 2018	April 2019	1 January 2020	AGM: April 2022; or GM: held by 31 December 2022
31 December 2018	February 2019	April 2020	1 January 2021	AGM: April 2023; or GM: held by 31 December 2023
31 March 2019	February 2019	June 2019	1 April 2020	AGM: June 2022; or GM: held by 31 March 2023
31 March 2019	May 2019	June 2020	1 April 2021	AGM: June 2023; or GM: held by 31 March 2024
30 June 2019	May 2019	September 2019	1 July 2020	AGM: September 2022; or GM: held by 30 June 2023
30 June 2019	August 2019	September 2020	1 July 2021	AGM: September 2023; or GM: held by 30 June 2024

²³ Assumes approval sought at AGM.

²⁴ Assumes company has not chosen for the restrictions to apply earlier.

²⁵ Assumes annual remuneration report has been approved at previous AGM and no changes have been made to the remuneration policy since approved at the AGM shown in the third column.

3. WEBSITE STATEMENT WHEN DIRECTOR LEAVES

REQUIREMENT (SECTION 430(2B) OF THE COMPANIES ACT 2006)

Companies are required to publish a statement on its website, as soon as reasonably practicable, when a director leaves giving particulars of:

- Loss of office payments and remuneration payments which have been, or will be, made to the departing director.
- Explanation of how these payments were calculated.

GUIDANCE

The Companies Act 2006 does not distinguish between executive and non-executive directors and companies therefore need to make a similar statement regarding departing non-executive directors, even though the payment of the final monthly fee may be all that needs to be disclosed.

Companies must make the statement available "as soon as reasonably practicable", so when, or very soon after, the arrangements have been confirmed. It is anticipated that in many cases this will be on the date the departure is announced to the market. Where companies need further time to prepare and agree the exact wording between announcement and departure from the board, they may wish to consider giving a commitment to announce any payments as soon as the arrangements become known. An announcement will also be required where a director steps down from the board, but continues to be employed by the company.

If no payments are made, or to be made, companies may wish to make a disclosure to this effect rather than fielding questions about why such a disclosure has not been made.

In addition to making an RIS announcement regarding a director's departure from the board (as required by the Listing Rules), investors generally expect companies to make an RIS announcement, at the point of leaving, setting out the information required to be published on their website under the Companies Act 2006.

For further guidance on the information to be included in the statement, see 3.4: Payments to past directors and 3.5: Payments for loss of office.

4. GLOSSARY

2018 Code	The revised UK Corporate Governance Code published in 2018 and applicable to financial years starting on or after 1 January 2019.		
2019 FAQs	The Companies (Directors' Remuneration Policy and Directors' Remuneration Report) Regulations 2019 – Frequently Asked Questions, issued by the Department for Business, Energy & Industrial Strategy.		
Annual remuneration report	The annual report on remuneration, as required by section 420 of the Companies Act 2006 and Part 3 of the Regulations, which must contain the information prescribed by Part 3 of the Regulations.		
Current year	The company's financial year during which a remuneration report is published. This is referred to in the Regulations as "the financial year following the relevant financial year", and as "the following financial year".		
ESG	Environmental, social and governance.		
Future policy table	A table describing each of the components of the remuneration package for the directors, which must be included in the remuneration policy under paragraphs 25 and 26 of the Regulations.		
Long-term incentive	Any amount (to be provided in cash, shares or other assets) received or receivable as a result of an award made before the reported year and the achievement of performance measures or targets over a period that ends within that year.		
	This phrase is not used in the Regulations, which refer to these by various references to the requirement to disclose their value in the single total figure table, which is set out in paragraph 7(1)(d) of the Regulations. Common types of long-term incentive include long-term incentive share awards and share options. Long-term incentive awards are one type of "scheme interest" as defined in paragraph 44(1) of the Regulations.		
Performance shares	An award of shares that is conditional on the satisfaction of performance requirements, and for which no exercise price is payable.		
Recovery	Recovery of amounts previously vested or paid (which some might refer to as clawback or malus) (see Recovery and withholding (clawback and malus) in 3.1: Single total figure of remuneration).		

Regulations	Schedule 8 to the Large and Medium-sized Companies and Groups (Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008 (SI 2008/373), as amended by the Large and Medium-sized Companies and Groups (Accounts and Reports) Amendment Regulations 2013 (SI 2013/1981), the Companies (Miscellaneous Reporting) Regulations 2018 (SI 2018/860) and the Companies (Directors' Remuneration Policy and Directors' Remuneration Report) Regulations 2019 (SI 2019/970).
Remuneration policy	The directors' remuneration policy as required by section 421 and section 439A of the Companies Act 2006. The remuneration policy must contain the information prescribed by Part 4 of the Regulations.
Remuneration report	The directors' remuneration report, as required by sections 421 and section 439 of the Companies Act 2006, which must contain an annual statement, an annual remuneration report and, if being voted on, the remuneration policy (which the company may still choose to include if there is expected to be no vote on policy in the current year).
Reported year	The company's financial year for which details of remuneration are set out in an annual remuneration report, that is the year before the current year. This is referred to in the Regulations as the "relevant financial year".
RIS	Regulatory information service.
Single total figure table	A table showing the single total figure of remuneration for each director to be included in the annual remuneration report as required by paragraphs 4 to 12 of the Regulations.
Short-term incentive	Any amount (to be provided in cash, shares or other assets) received or receivable as a result of an award made in the reported year and the achievement of performance measures or targets within that year. This phrase is not used in the Regulations, which refer to these by various references to the requirement to disclose their value in the single total figure table, which is set out in paragraph 7(1)(c) of the Regulations. The most common type of short-term incentive is the annual bonus.
TSR	Total shareholder return.
Withholding	Withholding of amounts that would otherwise have been paid (see <i>Recovery and withholding (clawback and malus) in 3.1: Single total figure of remuneration</i>).

Current members 2019

Corporate Governance Forum



IAN BURGER (CO-CHAIR) Newton Investment Management Head of Governance and Stewardship



ANDREW NINIAN
The Investment
Association
(Director, Stewardship
and Corporate
Governance)



ANGELI BENHAM
Legal & General
Investment Management
(Corporate Governance
Manager)



DANIEL VEAZEYSchroders
(Head of Corporate
Governance Analysts)



RPMI Railpen Investments (Senior Investment Manager - Sustainable Ownership)



REBECCA VINE
Aviva Investors
(Senior Corporate
Governance Analyst)



VINEET CHHIBBER
JP Morgan Asset
Management
(Executive Director, ESG)

Current members 2019

GC100



GEOF STAPLEDON (CO-CHAIR) BHP (Vice President Governance)



GRANT DAWSONformerly Centrica
(Group General Counsel and Company Secretary)



LAUREN BROWN HSBC GROUP (Co-Head Group Secretariat)



STEVE ALLEN
Rio Tinto
(Group Company
Secretary)



VICTORIA WHYTE
GlaxoSmithKline
(Company Secretary)

Current secretariat 2019

AMANDA CANTWELL

CAMELIA THOMAS

Co-secretary to the Group

Co-secretary to the Group

(Corporate senior editor, Practical Law and Support to GC100) (GC100 Communication, Policy and Secretariat Officer)

Practical Law provides legal and secretariat support to the GC100 and Investor Group.

To submit feedback on the guidance, please contact Camelia Thomas at Practical Law.

VISIT US AT uk.practicallaw.com/groups/uk-gc100-investor-group

Membership history of the GC100 and Investor Group

The Group wishes to acknowledge the following members of the GC100 and Investor Group for their work developing the original guidance in 2013 and its first revision in 2016.

Corporate Governance Forum

lan Burger (2013, Co-chair from 2016)

Guy Jubb (Co-chair in 2013)

Jeanette Andrews (2013)

Chris Anker (2016)

Angeli Benham (2016)

Vineet Chhibber (2016)

Frank Curtiss (2013)

Paul Emerton (2016)

Andrew Ninian (2013, 2016)

Rebecca Vine (2013, 2016)

Jennifer Walmsley (2013)

Freddie Woolfe (2013)

GC100

David Jackson (Co-chair in 2013)

Geof Stapledon (2013 - 2019, Co-chair from 2016)

Steve Allen (2013 - 2019)

John Beadle (2016)

Grant Dawson (2013 - 2018)

Lawrence Dickinson (2013)

Tonia Lovell (2016)

Ben Mathews (2013)

Susan Swabey (2013 - 2016)

Victoria Whyte (2013 - 2019)

Secretariat and legal support to GC100 and Investor Group 2013 - 2019

Julie Stanbrook (2018-19)

Caroline Pearce (2016)

Lucy Ryland (2013)

Graeme Standen (2013)

6. RESPONDENTS TO CONSULTATION ON GUIDANCE

The guidance has been developed with the benefit of consulting with a number of representative bodies and other relevant parties. The GC100 and Investor Group is grateful for the responses it received from:

- City of London Law Society Company Law Committee
- Individual members of the Corporate Governance Forum
- Department for Business, Energy & Industrial Strategy
- GC100 members
- ICSA: The Governance Institute
- PricewaterhouseCoopers
- The Investment Association
- Members of the Remuneration Consultants Group

DISCLAIMER

This Directors' Remuneration Reporting Guidance, which does not necessarily reflect the views of all individual members of the GC100, the Corporate Governance Forum or their employing companies, has been produced for guidance only.

It is the responsibility of individual companies to ensure that they understand, and have compliance procedures in place that meet the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and Schedule 8 of the Large and Medium-sized Companies and Groups (Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008 (SI 2008/373) (as amended by the Large and Medium-sized Companies and Groups (Account and Reports) Amendment Regulations 2013 (SI 2013/1981), the Companies (Miscellaneous Reporting) Regulations 2018 (SI 2018/860) and the changes to the Regulation's flowing from SRD II) and to take specific external advice (legal or otherwise) if they deem necessary.

The guidance is limited to the directors' remuneration reporting requirements as specified in the Companies Act 2006 and the Large and Medium-sized Companies and Groups (Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008 (as amended). Detailed guidance on the structure and form of directors' remuneration is outside the scope of this guidance. Nothing in this guidance represents advice by the GC100, the Corporate Governance Forum or any of their members, Practical Law, Thomson Reuters Professional (UK) Limited, or any of the participants in the GC100 and Investor Group to any person and none of the GC100, the Corporate Governance Forum, Practical Law, Thomson Reuters Professional (UK) Limited, and the participants in the GC100 and Investor Group accepts any responsibility or liability to any person for or in respect of the guidance.